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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

Commission file number: 000-51103

GFI Group Inc.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware
(State or other jurisdiction of
incorporation or organization)

 80-0006224
(I.R.S. Employer

Identification No.)

55 Water Street, New York, NY
(Address of principal executive

offices)

 10041
(Zip Code)

(212) 968-4100
(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

         Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class  Name of each exchange on which registered

Common Stock, $0.01 par value per
share  New York Stock Exchange Euronext

         Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:
None

         Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.
Yes o    No �

�  ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011

OR

o  TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from                        to                       
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         Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the
Exchange Act. Yes o    No �

         Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to
file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes �    No o

         Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any,
every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this
chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such
files). Yes �    No o

         Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein,
and will not be contained, to the best of registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by
reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. �

         Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a
smaller reporting company. See definitions of "large accelerated filer", "accelerated filer", and "smaller reporting company" in
Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

         Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).
Yes o    No �

         As of June 30, 2011, the aggregate market value of the registrant's common stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant
was $320,839,407 based upon the closing sale price of $4.59 as reported on the New York Stock Exchange Euronext.

         Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the registrant's classes of common stock, as of the latest practicable
date.

Class  Outstanding at February 29, 2012

Common Stock, $0.01 par value per
share  118,182,530 shares

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

         Portions of the registrant's definitive proxy statement for its 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, to be held on June 7,
2012, are incorporated by reference in Part III in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

   

Large accelerated filer o  Accelerated filer �  Non-accelerated filer o
(Do not check if a

smaller reporting company)

 Smaller reporting company o
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ITEM 6.    SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 

        The following table sets forth selected consolidated financial data for the five years ended December 31, 2011. This
selected financial data as of December 31, 2010, December 31, 2009, December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007 has been
updated to reflect the immaterial restatement as discussed in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 herein.
This selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with "Item 7—Management's Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and with our consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto
contained in Part II-Item 8 in this Form 10-K.

  Year ended December 31,  
  2011  2010  2009  2008  2007  
  (In thousands, except share and per share data)  
Consolidated

Statements of
Operations Data:                 

Revenues                 
Agency

commissions  $ 561,026 $ 534,239 $ 481,326 $ 757,310 $ 749,223 
Principal

transactions   235,580  215,563  270,378  206,669  188,254 
            

Total brokerage
revenues  $ 796,606  749,802  751,704  963,979  937,477 

Clearing services
revenues   112,735  41,878  —  —  — 

Interest income
from clearing
services   2,300  671  —  —  — 

Equity in net
earnings of
unconsolidated
businesses(1)   10,466  3,974  1,574  (209)  (698)

Software, analytics
and market data   73,620  60,637  54,347  51,250  19,522 

Other income(2)   19,746  5,640  12,656  274  13,542 
            

Total revenues  $ 1,015,473 $ 862,602 $ 820,281 $ 1,015,294 $ 969,843 
Total interest and

transaction-based
expenses(3)   134,702  67,558  30,354  43,420  32,732 

            

Revenues, net of
interest and
transaction-based
expenses   880,771  795,044  789,927  971,874  937,111 

            

Expenses                 
Compensation and

employee
benefits   627,368  558,248  583,315  665,973  604,847 

Other
expenses(1)(3)(4)  253,321  204,993  183,342  222,924  181,526 

            

Total other
expenses   880,689  763,241  766,657  888,897  786,373 

            

Income before
provision for
income taxes   82  31,803  23,270  82,977  150,738 

Provision for income
taxes   2,647  5,884  6,982  29,871  55,880 

            

Net (loss) income
before attribution
to non-controlling
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stockholders   (2,565)  25,919  16,288  53,106  94,858 
Less: Net income

attributable to non-
controlling
interests   616  304  —  —  — 

            

GFI's net (loss)
income  $ (3,181) $ 25,615 $ 16,288 $ 53,106 $ 94,858 

            

Earnings Per Share                 
Basic (loss) earnings

per share available
to common
stockholders  $ (0.03) $ 0.21 $ 0.14 $ 0.45 $ 0.81 

            

Diluted (loss)
earnings per share
available to
common
stockholders  $ (0.03) $ 0.20 $ 0.13 $ 0.44 $ 0.80 

            

Weighted average
number of shares
outstanding(5)                 

Basic   118,334,995  120,275,918  118,178,493  117,966,596  116,595,920 
Diluted   118,334,995  125,522,128  121,576,767  119,743,693  119,180,791 
Dividends declared

per share of
common stock  $ 0.20 $ 0.45 $ 0.20 $ 0.255  — 

 PDFmyURL.com

http://pdfmyurl.com?otsrc=watermark&otclc=0.01
http://pdfmyurl.com?otsrc=watermark&otclc=0.01


Table of Contents

  For the Year Ended December 31,  
  2011  2010  2009  2008  2007  
  (In thousands except headcount data)  
Consolidated Statements of

Financial Condition Data:                 
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 245,879 $ 313,875 $ 342,379 $ 342,375 $ 240,393 
Total assets(6)(7)  $ 1,190,549  1,273,804  954,874  1,088,691  978,594 
Total debt, including

current portion  $ 250,000  192,446  173,688  223,823 $ 55,291 
Total stockholders'

equity(7)  $ 447,212  494,111  487,502  480,363  455,593 
Selected Statistical Data:                 

Brokerage personnel
headcount(8)   1,271  1,161  1,082  1,037  1,037 

Employee headcount   2,176  1,990  1,768  1,740  1,599 
Broker productivity for the

period(9)  $ 647 $ 669 $ 705 $ 910 $ 934 
Brokerage Revenues by

Geographic Region:                 
Americas  $ 311,519 $ 293,344 $ 325,359 $ 385,854 $ 401,897 
Europe, Middle East &

Africa   392,895  379,660  364,752  489,517  449,949 
Asia   92,192  76,798  61,593  88,608  85,631 

            

Total  $ 796,606 $ 749,802 $ 751,704 $ 963,979 $ 937,477 
            

(1) During the second quarter of 2011, the Company changed the name of its income statement line item
"Equity in earnings (losses) of unconsolidated brokerage businesses" to "Equity in net earnings (losses) of
unconsolidated businesses" in order to better describe the results included in this line item. In addition,
certain amounts related to equity in net earnings (losses) of unconsolidated businesses totaling $489,
$1,574, $(209) and $(698) for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively,
were previously presented in the "Other expenses" line item in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
In order to enhance transparency in the presentation of the Consolidated Statements of Operations these
amounts have been reclassified to the "Equity in net earnings (losses) of unconsolidated businesses" line
item. 

(2) Certain software development contract revenues for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 totaling
$86 and $215 were previously presented in a line item called "Contract revenue" and have been combined
into "Other income" to conform with the current year's presentation. 

(3) Clearing fees for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 totaling $30,354, $43,420 and
$32,732 were previously presented in "Other expenses" and are now presented in "Total interest and
transaction- based expenses" to conform with the current year's presentation. 

(4) Other expenses is Total other expenses excluding Compensation and employee benefits. 

(5) Restated to reflect the four-for-one stock split effected March 31, 2008. 

(6) Total assets included receivables from brokers, dealers and clearing organizations of $217.9 million,
$243.8 million, $87.7 million, $149.7 million and $317.8 million at December 31, 2011, 2010, 2009,
2008 and 2007, respectively. These receivables primarily represent securities transactions entered into in
connection with our matched principal business which have not settled as of their stated settlement dates.
These receivables are substantially offset by the corresponding payables to brokers, dealers and clearing
organizations for these unsettled transactions. 

(7) Information has been updated to reflect the restatement discussed in Note 2 of our Consolidated Financial
Statements in Item 8 herein. 

(8)
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(8) Brokerage personnel headcount includes brokers, trainees and clerks. As of December 31, 2011, we
employed 1,035 brokers and 236 trainees and clerks. 

(9) We are presenting broker productivity to show the average amount of revenue generated per broker.
Broker productivity is calculated as brokerage revenues divided by average brokerage personnel
headcount for the period.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
GFI Group Inc.
New York, New York

        We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial condition of GFI Group Inc. and subsidiaries
(the "Company") as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive
(loss) income, cash flows and changes in stockholders' equity for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2011. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15. These consolidated financial
statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements and the financial statement schedule based on our audits.

        We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

        In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of GFI
Group Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2011, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. Also, in our opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic
consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, present fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

        We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011, based on the criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework  issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission and our report dated March 15, 2012 expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company's internal control over
financial reporting.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
New York, New York
March 15, 2012

98
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GFI GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION 

(In thousands except share and per share amounts) 

   

See notes to consolidated financial statements

99

  December 31,  
  2011  2010  
Assets        

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 245,879 $ 313,875 
Cash segregated under federal and other regulations   12,756  24,927 
Deposits with clearing organizations   33,885  26,845 
Commissions receivable, net   94,971  103,010 
Receivables from brokers, dealers and clearing organizations   217,909  243,811 
Property, equipment and leasehold improvements, net   61,947  60,612 
Goodwill   266,506  268,288 
Intangible assets, net   58,027  66,816 
Other assets   198,669  165,620 

      

TOTAL ASSETS  $ 1,190,549 $ 1,273,804 
      

Liabilities and stockholders' equity        
LIABILITIES        

Accrued compensation  $ 127,089 $ 112,535 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses   56,547  64,672 
Payables to brokers, dealers and clearing organizations   89,529  172,418 
Payables to clearing services customers   120,909  125,968 
Short-term borrowings, net   —  132,703 
Long-term obligations   250,000  59,743 
Other liabilities   97,563  110,543 

      

Total Liabilities   741,637  778,582 
      

Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)        
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY        

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized,
none outstanding at December 31, 2011 and 2010   —  — 

Common stock, $0.01 par value; 400,000,000 shares authorized
and 131,669,676 and 128,703,324 shares issued at
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively   1,317  1,287 

Additional paid in capital   365,835  350,230 
Retained earnings   160,934  188,295 
Treasury stock, 14,145,038 and 6,577,833 common shares at cost

at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively   (73,919)  (43,433)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (6,955)  (2,268)

      

Total Stockholders' Equity   447,212  494,111 
Non-controlling interests   1,700  1,111 

      

Total Equity   448,912  495,222 
      

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY  $ 1,190,549 $ 1,273,804 
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GFI GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

(In thousands, except share and per share data) 

   

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2011  2010  2009  
Revenues           

Agency commissions  $ 561,026 $ 534,239 $ 481,326 
Principal transactions   235,580  215,563  270,378 

        

Total brokerage revenues   796,606  749,802  751,704 
Clearing services revenues   112,735  41,878  — 
Interest income from clearing services   2,300  671  — 
Equity in net earnings of unconsolidated

businesses(1)   10,466  3,974  1,574 
Software, analytics and market data   73,620  60,637  54,347 
Other income(1)   19,746  5,640  12,656 

        

Total revenues   1,015,473  862,602  820,281 
Interest and transaction-based expenses           

Transaction fees on clearing services   108,283  39,918  — 
Transaction fees on brokerage services   24,541  27,213  30,354 
Interest expense from clearing services   1,878  427  — 

        

Total interest and transaction-based expenses   134,702  67,558  30,354 
        

Revenues, net of interest and transaction-based
expenses   880,771  795,044  789,927 

        

Expenses           
Compensation and employee benefits   627,368  558,248  583,315 
Communications and market data   60,728  49,579  46,263 
Travel and promotion   40,011  37,517  33,819 
Rent and occupancy   24,664  22,413  20,325 
Depreciation and amortization   38,943  34,431  31,493 
Professional fees   27,413  25,949  18,402 
Interest on borrowings   25,759  11,063  10,540 
Other expenses(1)   35,803  24,041  22,500 

        

Total other expenses   880,689  763,241  766,657 
        

Income before provision for income taxes   82  31,803  23,270 
Provision for income taxes   2,647  5,884  6,982 

        

Net (loss) income before attribution to non-
controlling stockholders   (2,565)  25,919  16,288 
Less: Net income attributable to non-

controlling interests   616  304  — 
        

GFI's net (loss) income  $ (3,181) $ 25,615 $ 16,288 
        

(Loss) earnings per share available to common
stockholders           
Basic  $ (0.03) $ 0.21 $ 0.14 
Diluted  $ (0.03) $ 0.20 $ 0.13 

Weighted average shares outstanding           
Basic   118,334,995  120,275,918  118,178,493 
Diluted   118,334,995  125,522,128  121,576,767 

Dividends declared per share of common stock  $ 0.20 $ 0.45 $ 0.20 

(1) Conformed to the current year's presentation—see Note 2
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GFI GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME 

(In thousands) 

   

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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  Year Ended December 31,  
  2011  2010  2009  
Net (loss) income before attribution to non-controlling

stockholders  $ (2,565) $ 25,919 $ 16,288 
Other comprehensive (loss) income:           
Foreign currency translation adjustment   (3,201)  2,123  1,506 
Unrealized (loss) gains on available-for-sale securities, net of

tax(1)   (1,486)  183  565 
        

Comprehensive (loss) income   (7,252)  28,225  18,359 
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests   616  304  — 
Other comprehensive (loss) income attributable to non-

controlling interests   (151)  70  — 
        

GFI's comprehensive (loss) income  $ (7,717) $ 27,851 $ 18,359 
        

(1) Amounts are net of benefit from (provision for) income taxes of $547, $(71) and $(185) for the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.
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GFI GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(In thousands) 

   

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2011  2010  2009  
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:           
Net (loss) income before attribution to non-controlling

stockholders  $ (2,565) $ 25,919 $ 16,288 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by

operating activities:           
Depreciation and amortization   38,943  34,431  31,493 
Amortization of loan fees   1,709  939  742 
Amortization of prepaid bonuses and forgivable loans(1)   33,652  25,707  60,489 
Provision for doubtful accounts   250  (829)  3,617 
Share-based compensation   32,772  26,674  25,820 
Loss on disposal of fixed assets   590  121  8 
Benefit from deferred taxes   (4,866)  (22,632)  (32,811)
Losses (gains) on foreign exchange derivative contracts, net   415  (3,529)  (3,519)
(Gains) losses from equity method investments, net   (1,223)  29  (1,552)
Tax expense related to share-based compensation   1,764  2,042  5,577 
Writedown of investments in unconsolidated businesses   8,829  —  — 
Fair value mark-to-market on future purchase

commitment(1)   (6,941)  (200)  — 
Gain on remeasurement of previously held equity interest   —  (3,695)  — 
Other non-cash charges, net(1)   (617)  (358)  (462)

(Increase) decrease in operating assets:           
Cash segregated under federal and other regulations   12,171  (16,841)  — 
Deposits with clearing organizations   (7,040)  2,746  (2,573)
Commissions receivable   7,847  4,222  20,912 
Receivables from brokers, dealers and clearing organizations  25,902  (58,862)  61,924 
Other assets(1)   (44,956)  (34,368)  7,205 

Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities:           
Accrued compensation   14,554  6,069  (29,575)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses   (8,125)  (10,473)  (2,612)
Payables to brokers, dealers and clearing organizations   (82,889)  104,287  (36,709)
Payables to clearing services customers   (5,044)  9,345  — 
Other liabilities   (10,553)  5,362  (10,461)

        

Cash provided by operating activities   4,579  96,106  113,801 
        

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:           
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired, and purchases of

intangible and other assets   (3,300)  (28,655)  — 
Issuance of notes receivable   (4,953)  (800)  (1,000)
Proceeds from notes receivable   882  1,000  — 
Proceeds from other investments   1,062  662  4,808 
Purchases of other investments   (11,300)  (24,647)  (2,158)
Purchase of property, equipment and leasehold

improvements   (23,357)  (13,214)  (13,240)
Proceeds on foreign exchange derivative contracts   5,893  13,575  9,710 
Payments on foreign exchange derivative contracts   (11,172)  (6,695)  (25,791)

        

Cash used in investing activities   (46,245)  (58,774)  (27,671)
        

(1) The Company segregated the classification of Amortization of prepaid bonuses and forgivable loans and
Fair value mark-to-market on future purchase commitment from Other assets and Other non-cash charges,
net, respectively.
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GFI GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(In thousands)

Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities:

        During 2011, the Company recorded a $1,084 debit to Additional paid in capital with respect to the cancellation of
276,625 shares of the Company's common stock in connection with the exchange of the Company's membership interest in an
equity method investment for a convertible senior secured promissory note. During 2010, in connection with the business
combinations described in Note 5, the Company recorded $20,604 within Other liabilities and recorded the following items
within Stockholders' Equity: $20,088 related to the issuance of 3,492,095 shares of the Company's common stock and
$15,558 related to 3,682,916 of contingently issuable shares of the Company's common stock. Additionally, the Company
recorded $1,627 with respect to the issuance of 414,938 shares of the Company's common stock in connection with an equity
method investment during 2010. During 2009, the Company recorded a contingent liability of $2,400 within Other liabilities
in connection with a business combination.

   

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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  Year Ended December 31,  
  2011  2010  2009  
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:           

Repayment of short-term borrowings   (190,000)  (40,000)  (50,000)
Proceeds from short-term borrowings   55,000  60,000  — 
Proceeds from long-term obligations   250,000  —  — 
Repayment of long-term obligations   (60,000)  —  — 
Purchases of treasury stock   (35,868)  (22,609)  (4,425)
Cash dividends paid   (24,180)  (54,658)  (23,583)
Payment of debt issuance costs   (8,891)  (2,719)  (831)
Proceeds from exercises of stock options   75  645  70 
Cash paid for taxes on vested restricted stock units   (9,102)  (6,724)  (3,640)
Payment of contingent consideration liabilities   (1,693)  —  — 
Tax expense related to share-based compensation   (1,764)  (2,042)  (5,577)

        

Cash used in financing activities   (26,423)  (68,107)  (87,986)
        

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash
equivalents   93  2,271  1,860 

(DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS   (67,996)  (28,504)  4 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF
PERIOD   313,875  342,379  342,375 

        

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF PERIOD  $ 245,879 $ 313,875 $ 342,379 
        

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE:           
Interest paid  $ 17,525 $ 11,391 $ 9,532 
Cash paid for income taxes  $ 23,948 $ 23,998 $ 30,492 
Cash received from income tax refunds  $ 8,539 $ 4,491 $ 5,796 
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GFI GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 

(In thousands) 

  
Common

Stock  

Additional
Paid In
Capital  

Treasury
Stock  

Retained
Earnings  

Accumulated
Other
Comp.

Income (loss)  

Total
Stockholders'

Equity  

Non-
Controlling

Interests  
Total

Equity  
Balance,

December 31,
2008, as
previously
reported  $ 1,195 $ 279,656 $ (18,476) $ 219,354 $ (4,766) $ 476,963 $ — $ 476,963 
Restatement

adjustment
(Note 2)   —  —  —  5,279  (1,879)  3,400  —  3,400 

                  

Balance,
December 31,
2008, as
restated  $ 1,195 $ 279,656 $ (18,476) $ 224,633 $ (6,645) $ 480,363 $ — $ 480,363 

Purchase of
treasury stock   —  —  (4,425)  —  —  (4,425)  —  (4,425)

Issuance of
common stock
for exercise of
stock options
and vesting of
restricted stock
units   14   70  —  —  —  84  —  84 

Withholding of
restricted stock
units in
satisfaction of
tax
requirements   —  (3,653)  —  —  —  (3,653)  —  (3,653)

Tax expense
associated with
share-based
awards   —  (5,577)  —  —  —  (5,577)  —  (5,577)

Foreign currency
translation
adjustment, net
of tax   —  —  —  —  1,506  1,506  —  1,506 

Unrealized gain
on available-
for-sale
securities, net
of tax   —  —  —  —  565  565  —  565 

Dividends to
stockholders   —  —  —  (23,583)  —  (23,583)  —  (23,583)

Share-based
compensation   —  25,934  —  —  —  25,934  —  25,934 

Net income   —  —  —  16,288  —  16,288  —  16,288 
                  

Balance,
December 31,
2009, as
restated   1,209  296,430  (22,901)  217,338  (4,574)  487,502  —  487,502 

Purchase of
treasury stock   —  —  (22,609)  —  —  (22,609)  —  (22,609)

Issuance of
treasury stock   —  (2,077)  2,077  —  —  —  —  — 

Common stock
issued and
issuable for
acquisitions   57  37,214  —  —  —  37,271  —  37,271 

Issuance of
common stock
for exercise of
stock options
and vesting of
restricted stock
units   21  624  —  —  —  645  —  645 

Withholding of
restricted stock
units in
satisfaction of
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See notes to consolidated financial statements
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satisfaction of
tax
requirements   —  (6,724)  —  —  —  (6,724)  —  (6,724)

Tax expense
associated with
share-based
awards   —  (2,042)  —  —  —  (2,042)  —  (2,042)

Foreign currency
translation
adjustment, net
of tax   —  —  —  —  2,123  2,123  70  2,193 

Unrealized gain
on available-
for-sale
securities, net
of tax   —  —  —  —  183  183  —  183 

Dividends to
stockholders   —  —  —  (54,658)  —  (54,658)  —  (54,658)
Share-based

compensation  —  26,805  —  —  —  26,805  —  26,805 
Non-controlling

interests from
business
acquisitions   —  —  —  —  —  —  737  737 

Net income   —  —  —  25,615  —  25,615  304  25,919 
                  

Balance,
December 31,
2010, as
restated   1,287  350,230  (43,433)  188,295  (2,268)  494,111  1,111  495,222 

Purchase of
treasury stock   —  —  (35,868)  —  —  (35,868)  —  (35,868)

Issuance of
treasury stock   —  (5,379)  5,382  —  —  3  —  3 

Common stock
issued
(cancelled) in
connection with
an investment   1  (1,084)  —  —  —  (1,083)  —  (1,083)

Issuance of
common stock
for exercise of
stock options
and vesting of
restricted stock
units   29  46  —  —  —  75  —  75 

Withholding of
restricted stock
units in
satisfaction of
tax
requirements   —  (9,102)  —  —  —  (9,102)  —  (9,102)

Tax expense
associated with
share-based
awards   —  (1,764)  —  —  —  (1,764)  —  (1,764)

Foreign currency
translation
adjustment, net
of tax   —  —  —  —  (3,201)  (3,201)  (27)  (3,228)

Unrealized loss
on available-
for-sale
securities, net
of tax   —  —  —  —  (1,486)  (1,486)  —  (1,486)

Dividends to
stockholders   —  —  —  (24,180)  —  (24,180)  —  (24,180)

Share-based
compensation   —  32,888  —  —  —  32,888  —  32,888 

Net (loss) income   —  —  —  (3,181)  —  (3,181)  616  (2,565)
                  

Balance,
December 31,
2011  $ 1,317 $ 365,835 $ (73,919) $ 160,934 $ (6,955) $ 447,212 $ 1,700 $ 448,912 
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GFI GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts) 

1. ORGANIZATION AND BUSINESS

        The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of GFI Group Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively, "GFI" or
the "Company"). The Company, through its subsidiaries, provides brokerage services, clearing services, trading system
software and market data and analytical software products to institutional clients in markets for a range of fixed income,
financial, equity and commodity instruments. The Company complements its brokerage capabilities with value-added
services, such as market data and software systems and products for decision support, which it licenses primarily to companies
in the financial services industry. The Company's principal operating subsidiaries include: GFI Securities LLC, GFI
Brokers LLC, GFI Group LLC, GFI Securities Limited, GFI Brokers Limited, GFI (HK) Securities LLC, GFI (HK) Brokers Ltd.,
GFI Group Pte. Ltd., GFI Korea Money Brokerage Limited, GFI Securities Nyon Sarl, Amerex Brokers LLC, Fenics Limited
("Fenics"), Trayport Limited ("Trayport"), and The Kyte Group Limited and Kyte Capital Management Limited (collectively
"Kyte"). As of December 31, 2011, Jersey Partners, Inc. ("JPI") owned approximately 41% of the Company's outstanding shares
of common stock. The Company's chief executive officer, Michael Gooch, is the controlling shareholder of JPI.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

        Basis of Presentation—The Company's Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America, which require management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses, and the disclosure of contingencies in the
Consolidated Financial Statements. Certain estimates and assumptions relate to the accounting for acquired goodwill and
intangible assets, fair value measurements, compensation accruals, tax liabilities and the potential outcome of litigation
matters. Management believes that the estimates utilized in the preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements are
reasonable and prudent. Actual results could differ materially from these estimates.

        All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.

        When the Company acquired Kyte on July 1, 2010, it determined that a certain investment in an unconsolidated affiliate
should be accounted for under the cost method. During the second quarter of 2011, the Company concluded that this
investment should have been accounted for under the equity method since the acquisition date. During the year ended
December 31, 2011, the Company recorded $521 of pre-tax income, representing the Company's cumulative share of equity in
earnings of the investment from the third and fourth quarters of 2010. Additionally, during the second quarter of 2011, the
Company recorded an adjustment of $2,925 to its purchase price allocation for Kyte related to all pre-acquisition earnings in
this investee not previously recognized by Kyte. The Company adjusted residual goodwill accordingly. See Note 5 for
discussion of the adjustment to goodwill.

        Immaterial Restatement—During the fourth quarter of 2011, the Company completed an analysis of its tax assets and
liabilities. As a result of that analysis, the Company determined that it had overstated its Provision for income taxes in certain
years prior to December 31, 2008. As a result of this error, the Company has recorded the following corrections: (i) a $5,279
increase to beginning Retained earnings as of December 31, 2008, (ii) a $1,879 decrease to Foreign currency translation
adjustment within beginning Accumulated other comprehensive loss as of December 31, 2008, (iii) a $3,400 increase to
beginning Total equity as of December 31, 2008, (iv) a $2,780 increase to Deferred tax assets within Other assets as of
December 31 2010, and (v) a $620 net decrease to Other liabilities as of
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GFI GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

December 31, 2010 related primarily to Unrecognized tax benefits and Deferred tax liabilities. The Company has restated its
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity as of December 31, 2008, 2009 and 2010 and its Consolidated
Statement of Financial Condition as of December 31, 2010 to reflect these corrections.

        The Company concluded that its compliance with debt covenants would not have been affected by these adjustments and
that the error was not material to its previously filed Consolidated Financial Statements.

        Accordingly, the Company has restated the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements as of December 31, 2010
from amounts previously reported to correct the error by adjusting its Other assets, Other liabilities, Retained earnings and
Accumulated other comprehensive loss as follows:

        During the second quarter of 2011, the Company changed the name of its income statement line item "Equity in earnings
of unconsolidated brokerage businesses" to "Equity in net earnings of unconsolidated businesses" in order to better describe
the results included in this line item. In addition, certain amounts related to equity in net earnings of unconsolidated
businesses totaling $489 and $1,574 for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively, were previously
presented in the "Other expenses" line item in the Consolidated Statements of Operation. In order to enhance transparency in
the presentation of the Consolidated Statements of Operations, these amounts have been reclassified to the "Equity in net
earnings of unconsolidated businesses" line item.

        Interest income on short-term investments for the year ended December 31, 2009 totaling $1,043 was previously
presented in a line item called "Interest income" and has been combined into "Other income" to conform with the current year's
presentation.

        Consolidation Policies—The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company, its wholly-owned
subsidiaries and subsidiaries that are treated as such and other entities in which the Company has a controlling financial
interest. For consolidated subsidiaries that are less than wholly-owned, equity interests that are not owned by the Company are
referred to as non-controlling interests. The portion of net income attributable to non-controlling interests for such
subsidiaries is presented as Net income attributable to non-controlling interests on the Consolidated Statements of Operations,
and the portion of the shareholders' equity of such subsidiaries is presented as
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  December 31, 2010  

  
As Previously

Reported  Adjustment  As Restated  
Consolidated Statement of Financial

Condition           

Other assets  $ 162,840 $ 2,780 $ 165,620 
Total Assets   1,271,024  2,780  1,273,804 

Other liabilities   111,163  (620)  110,543 
Total Liabilities   779,202  (620)  778,582 

Retained earnings   183,016  5,279  188,295 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (389)  (1,879)  (2,268)
Total Stockholders' Equity   490,711  3,400  494,111 
Total Equity   491,822  3,400  495,222 
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity   1,271,024  2,780  1,273,804 
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GFI GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Non-controlling interests in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition and Consolidated Statements of Changes in
Stockholders' Equity.

        Variable Interest Entities—The Company determines whether the Company holds any interests in entities deemed to be a
variable interest entity ("VIE"). A VIE is an entity that either (i) has equity investors that lack certain essential characteristics
of a controlling financial interest or (ii) does not have sufficient equity to finance its activities without additional
subordinated financial support from other parties. If an entity has either of these characteristics, it is considered a VIE and
must be consolidated by its primary beneficiary. The primary beneficiary is the party that has both (i) the power to direct the
activities of the VIE that most significantly impact the economic performance of the entity and (ii) the obligation to absorb
losses of the entity that could be potentially significant to the VIE or the right to receive benefits from the entity that could be
potentially significant. As of December 31, 2011, the Company holds variable interests in certain VIEs. One of these VIEs is
consolidated as it is determined that the Company is the primary beneficiary. The remaining VIEs are not consolidated as it is
determined that the Company is not the primary beneficiary. See Note 18 for disclosures on Variable Interest Entities.

        Cash and Cash Equivalents—Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and highly liquid investments with maturities,
when purchased, of three months or less.

        Cash Segregated Under Federal and Other Regulations—The Company holds cash that belongs to customers as support
for their trading activities. As a result, certain of the Company's subsidiaries are required to segregate or set aside such cash to
satisfy regulations designed to protect customer assets.

        Deposits with Clearing Organizations—Deposits with clearing organizations consist of deposits of cash and cash
equivalents or short-term investments, recorded at fair value, at various clearing companies and organizations that perform
clearing and custodial functions for the Company.

        Commissions Receivable—Commissions receivable represents amounts due from brokers, dealers, banks and other
financial and nonfinancial institutions for the execution of securities, commodities, foreign exchange and other derivative
brokerage transactions. In estimating the allowance for doubtful accounts, management considers the length of time
receivables are past due and historical experience. In addition, if the Company is aware of a client's inability to meet its
financial obligations, a specific provision for doubtful accounts is recorded in the amount of the estimated losses that will
result from the inability of that client to meet its financial obligation. Commissions receivable are presented net of allowance
for doubtful accounts of approximately $1,453 and $1,591 as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

        Property, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements—Property, equipment and leasehold improvements are stated at cost,
less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization are calculated using the straight-line method,
generally over three to seven years. Property and equipment are depreciated over their estimated useful lives. Leasehold
improvements are amortized over the shorter of the remaining term of the respective lease to which they relate or the
remaining useful life of the leasehold improvement. Internal and external costs incurred in developing or obtaining computer
software for internal use are capitalized in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 350 Intangibles
—Goodwill and Other  ("ASC 350"), and are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the software,
generally three years. General and administrative costs related to developing or obtaining such software are expensed as
incurred.
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GFI GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

        Goodwill and Intangible Assets—Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price allocation over the fair value of
tangible and identifiable intangible net assets acquired. The goodwill associated with each business combination is allocated
to the related reporting units, which are determined based on how the Company's businesses are managed and how they are
reviewed by the Company's chief operating decision maker. Other intangible assets are recorded at their fair value upon
completion of a business combination or certain other transactions.

        In accordance with ASC 350, goodwill and other indefinite lived intangible assets are not amortized, but instead are
periodically tested for impairment. The Company reviews goodwill and other indefinite lived intangible assets for impairment
on an annual basis as of November 1 of each fiscal year or whenever an event occurs or circumstances change that could
reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying amount.

        Prior to the Company's annual goodwill impairment test, the Company early adopted Accounting Standards Update
No. 2011-08 ("ASU 2011-08") "Intangibles—Goodwill and Other (Topic 350)."  In accordance with the amended guidance
prescribed by ASU 2011-08, the Company first assesses qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not (a
likelihood of more than 50 percent) that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. The qualitative
assessment is based on reviewing the totality of several factors, including macroeconomic conditions, industry and market
considerations, cost factors, overall financial performance, other entity specific events (for example, changes in management)
or other events such as selling or disposing of a reporting unit. After assessing qualitative factors, if the Company determines
that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is greater than its carrying amount, no further testing is
necessary. If the Company determines that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its
carrying value, then a two-step goodwill impairment test, prescribed by ASC 350, must be performed, whereby management
first compares the fair value of each reporting unit with recorded goodwill to that reporting unit's book value. If management
determines, as a result of this first step, that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value, a second step in
the impairment test process would require that the recorded goodwill at that reporting unit be written down to the value
implied by the reporting unit's recent valuation and the estimated fair value of the assets and liabilities. Based on the
Company's qualitative assessment for 2011, the Company performed a quantitative analysis for EMEA Brokerage and
Clearing and Backed Trading in accordance with ASC 350. Based on the results of the annual impairment tests, no goodwill
impairment was recognized during the years ended December 31, 2011 or 2010.

        For the reporting units where a quantitative analysis was performed, the primary valuation methods used by the Company
to estimate the fair value of its reporting units are the income and market approach. In applying the income approach,
projected cash flows available for distribution and the terminal value are discounted to present value to derive an indication
of fair value of the business enterprise. The market approach compares the reporting unit to selected reasonably similar
publicly-traded companies. Trading and transaction comparables are used as general indicators to assess the general
reasonableness of the estimated fair values.

        Intangible assets with definite lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. See Note 6 for
further information.

        Prepaid Bonuses and Forgivable Employee Loans—Prepaid bonuses and forgivable loans to employees are stated at
historical value net of amortization when the agreement between the Company
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GFI GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

and the employee provides for the return of proportionate amounts of the bonus or loan outstanding if employment is
terminated in certain circumstances prior to the end of the term of the agreement. Amortization is calculated using the straight-
line method over the term of the contract, which is generally two to four years, and is recorded in compensation and employee
benefits. The Company generally expects to recover the unamortized portion of prepaid bonuses and forgivable loans when
employees voluntarily terminate their employment or if their employment is terminated for cause prior to the end of the term
of the agreement. The prepaid bonuses and forgivable loans are included in Other assets in the Consolidated Statements of
Financial Condition. At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company had prepaid bonuses of $36,797 and $37,248,
respectively. At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company had forgivable employee loans and advances to employees of
$23,909 and $8,690, respectively. Amortization of prepaid bonuses and forgivable employee loans for the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $33,652, $25,707 and $60,489, respectively and is included within Compensation
and employee benefits.

        Investments—When the Company does not have a controlling financial interest in an entity but can exert significant
influence over the entity's operating and financial policies, the investment is accounted for under the equity method of
accounting in accordance with ASC 323-10, Investments—Equity Method and Joint Ventures  ("ASC 323-10"). Significant
influence generally exists when the Company owns 20% to 50% of the entity's common stock or in-substance common stock.
The Company initially records the investment at cost and adjusts the carrying amount each period to recognize its share of the
earnings and losses of the investee based on the percentage of ownership. See Note 19 for further information. Investments for
which the Company does not have the ability to exert significant influence over operating and financial policies are generally
accounted for using the cost method of accounting in accordance with ASC 325-10, Investments—Other ("ASC 325-10"). At
December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company had cost method investments of $4,059 and $3,116, respectively, included within
Other assets. The Company monitors its equity and cost method investments for indicators of impairment each reporting
period.

        The Company accounts for its marketable equity securities and its debt securities in accordance with ASC 320-10,
Investments—Debt and Equity Securities. Investments designated as available-for-sale that are owned by the Company's non
broker-dealer subsidiaries are recorded at fair value with unrealized gains or losses reported as a separate component of other
comprehensive income, net of tax. The fair value of the Company's available-for-sale securities was $8,263 and $4,925 as of
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, included within Other assets.

        Fair Value of Financial Instruments—In accordance with ASC 820-10, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures
("ASC 820-10"), the Company estimates fair values of financial instruments using relevant market information and other
assumptions. Fair value estimates involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgment in interpreting market data and,
accordingly, changes in assumptions or in market conditions could adversely affect the estimates. The Company also discloses
the fair value of its financial instruments in accordance with the fair value hierarchy as set forth by ASC 820-10.

        Trading securities are reported at fair value, with gains and losses resulting from changes in fair value recognized in Other
income. See Note 16 for further information.

        Derivative Financial Instruments—The Company enters into derivative transactions for a variety of reasons, including
managing its exposure to risk arising from changes in foreign currency, facilitating
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

customer trading activities and, in certain instances, to engage in principal trading for the Company's own account. Derivative
assets and liabilities are carried on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition at fair value, with changes in the fair
value recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Contracts entered into to manage risk arising from changes in
foreign currency are recognized in Other income and contracts entered into to facilitate customer transactions and principal
trading are recognized in Principal transactions. Derivatives are reported on a net-by-counterparty basis when management
believes that a legal and enforceable right of offset exists under these agreements. See Note 17 for further information.

        Payables to Clearing Services Customers—Payables to clearing services customers include amounts due on cash and
margin transactions, including futures contracts transacted on behalf of customers.

        Brokerage Transactions—The Company provides brokerage services to its clients in the form of either agency or
principal transactions.

        Agency Commissions—In agency transactions, the Company charges commissions for executing transactions between
buyers and sellers. Agency commissions revenues and related expenses are recognized on a trade date basis.

        Principal Transactions—Principal transactions revenue is primarily derived from matched principal and principal trading
transactions. Principal transactions revenues and related expenses are recognized on a trade date basis. The Company earns
revenue from principal transactions on the spread between the buy and sell price of the security that is brokered. In matched
principal transactions, the Company simultaneously agrees to buy instruments from one customer and sell them to another
customer.

        In the normal course of its matched principal and principal trading businesses, the Company holds securities positions
overnight. These positions are marked to market on a daily basis.

        Clearing Services Revenues—The Company charges fees to customers for clearing services provided for cash and
derivative transactions. Clearing services revenues are recorded on a trade date basis as customer transactions occur and are
presented net of any customer negotiated rebates.

        Software, Analytics and Market Data Revenue Recognition—Software revenue consists primarily of fees charged for
Trayport electronic trading software, which are typically billed on a subscription basis and is recognized ratably over the term
of the subscription period, which ranges from one to five years. Analytics revenue consists primarily of software license fees
for Fenics pricing tools which are typically billed on a subscription basis, and is recognized ratably over the term of the
subscription period, which is generally three years. Market data revenue primarily consists of subscription fees and fees from
customized one-time sales. Market data subscription fees are recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the
subscription period, which ranges from one to two years. Market data revenue from customized one-time sales is recognized
upon delivery of the data.

        The Company markets its software, analytics and market data products through its direct sales force and, in some cases,
indirectly through resellers. In general, the Company's license agreements for such products do not provide for a right of
return.

        Other Income—Included within Other income on the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations are revaluations
of foreign currency derivative contracts, realized and unrealized transaction
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

gains and losses on certain foreign currency denominated items and gains and losses on certain investments and interest
income earned on short-term investments.

        Compensation and Employee Benefits—The Company's compensation and employee benefits have both a fixed and
variable component. Base salaries and benefit costs are primarily fixed for all employees while bonuses constitute the variable
portion of compensation and employee benefits. The Company may pay certain performance bonuses in restricted stock units
("RSUs"). The Company also may grant sign-on and retention bonuses for certain newly-hired or existing employees who
agree to long-term employment agreements. These sign-on and retention bonuses are typically amortized using the straight-
line method over the term of the respective agreements.

        In 2011 and 2009, the Company recorded a charge of $19,443 and $34,400, respectively, to Compensation and Employee
Benefits that primarily related to severance costs and the restructuring of certain employment agreements. The Company
experienced no similar charge in 2010.

        Share-Based Compensation—The Company's share-based compensation consists of stock options and RSUs. The
Company accounts for share-based compensation in accordance with ASC 718 Compensation—Stock Compensation ("ASC
718"). This accounting guidance requires measurement of compensation expense for equity-based awards at fair value and
recognition of compensation expense over the service period, net of estimated forfeitures. In all periods presented, the only
share-based compensation issued by the Company has been RSUs. The Company determines the fair value of RSUs based on
the number of units granted and the grant date fair value of the Company's common stock, measured as of the closing price on
the date of grant. See Note 12 for further information.

        Income Taxes—In accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes, the Company provides for income taxes using the asset and
liability method under which deferred income taxes are recognized for the estimated future tax effects attributable to
temporary differences and carryforwards that result from events that have been recognized either in the financial statements or
the income tax returns, but not both. The measurement of current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities is based on
provisions of enacted tax laws. Valuation allowances are recognized if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more
likely than not that some portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Management applies the more likely than not
criteria prior to recognizing a financial statement benefit for a tax position taken (or expected to be taken) in a tax return. The
Company recognizes interest and/or penalties related to income tax matters in interest expense and other expense,
respectively. See Note 9 for further information.

        Treasury Stock—The Company accounts for Treasury stock using the cost method. Treasury stock held by the Company
may be reissued with respect to vested RSUs in qualified jurisdictions. The Company's policy is to account for these shares as
a reduction of Treasury stock on a first-in, first-out basis.

        Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments and Transactions—Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries having non-
U.S. dollar functional currencies are translated at the period end rates of exchange, and revenue and expenses are translated at
the average rates of exchange for the period. Gains or losses resulting from translating foreign currency financial statements
are reflected in foreign currency translation adjustments and are reported as a separate component of comprehensive income
and included in accumulated other comprehensive loss in stockholders' equity. Net (losses) gains resulting from
remeasurement of foreign currency transactions and balances for the years ended
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 were $(220), $(6,770) and $3,767, respectively, and are included in Other income in the
Consolidated Statement of Operations.

        Recent Accounting Pronouncements—In October 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued
Accounting Standards Update No. 2009-13 ("ASU 2009-13") Revenue Recognition (Topic 605) Multiple-Deliverable Revenue
Arrangements. ASU 2009-13 establishes the accounting and reporting guidance for arrangements with multiple-revenue
generating activities. ASU 2009-13 addresses how to separate deliverables and how to measure and allocate arrangement
consideration to one or more units of accounting and provides a selling price hierarchy for determining the selling price of a
deliverable. ASU 2009-13 was effective for fiscal years beginning on or after June 15, 2010. The adoption of ASU 2009-13
did not have a material impact on the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements.

        In October 2009, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2009-14 ("ASU 2009-14") Software (Topic 985)
Certain Revenue Arrangements That Include Software Elements. ASU 2009-14 provides guidance on how to allocate
arrangement consideration to deliverables in an arrangement that includes both tangible products and software. ASU 2009-14
also provides additional guidance on how to determine which software, if any, relating to the tangible product would be
excluded from software revenue recognition. ASU 2009-14 was effective for fiscal years beginning on or after June 15, 2010.
The adoption of ASU 2009-14 did not have a material impact on the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements.

        In January 2010, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2010-06 ("ASU 2010-06") Fair Value Measurements
and Disclosures (Topic 820) Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements. ASU 2010-06 provides amendments to
Subtopic 820-10 that require new disclosures, including the amounts of and reasons for transfers in and out of Levels 1 and 2
fair value measurements and reporting activity in the reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements on a gross basis.
ASU 2010-06 provides amendments that clarify existing disclosures regarding the level of disaggregation for providing fair
value measurement disclosures for each class of assets and liabilities. In addition, it clarifies existing disclosures about inputs
and valuation techniques used to measure fair value for both recurring and nonrecurring fair value measurements that are
required for either Level 2 or Level 3. ASU 2010-06 was effective for interim and annual reporting periods ending after
December 15, 2009 except for the disclosures about the roll forward of activity in Level 3 fair value measurements, which was
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 31, 2010 and for interim periods within those fiscal years. The adoption of
ASU 2010-06 did not have a material impact on the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements.

        In July 2010, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2010-20 ("ASU 2010-20") Receivables (Topic 310)
Disclosures about the Credit Quality of Financing Receivables and the Allowance for Credit Losses. The main objective of
ASU 2010-20 is to provide financial statement users with greater transparency about an entity's allowance for credit losses and
the credit quality of its financing receivables. ASU 2010-20 requires disclosure of additional information to assist financial
statement users in assessing an entity's credit risk exposures and evaluating the adequacy of its allowance for credit losses.
This ASU is effective for all public companies for interim and annual reporting periods ending on or after December 15, 2010,
except for disclosures relating to loan modifications, which were subsequently extended to interim and annual filings after
June 15, 2011. The adoption of ASU 2010-20 did not have a material impact on the Company's Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

        In May 2011, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-04 ("ASU 2011-04") Fair Value Measurement
(Topic 820) Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and
IFRSs. ASU 2011-04 amends current guidance to result in common fair value measurement and disclosures between
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and International Financial Reporting Standards. The
amendments result in a consistent definition of fair value and common requirements for measurement of and disclosure about
fair value between U.S. GAAP and IFRS. The amendments in ASU 2011-04 are effective for interim and annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2011. The Company does not expect the adoption of ASU 2011-04 to have a material impact on
the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements.

        In June 2011, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-05 ("ASU 2011-05") Comprehensive Income
(Topic 220) Presentation of Comprehensive Income. The main objective of ASU 2011-05 is to improve the comparability,
consistency, and transparency of financial reporting and increase the prominence of items reported in other comprehensive
income ("OCI") by eliminating the option to present components of OCI as part of the statement of changes in stockholders'
equity. The amendments in this standard requires entities to report the components of comprehensive income in either in (1) a
single continuous statement of comprehensive income or (2) two separate but consecutive statements. The amendments in this
standard do not change the items that must be reported in OCI. The amendments in ASU 2011-05 are effective for interim and
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2011 and are to be applied retrospectively. The Company does not expect the
adoption of ASU 2011-05 to have a material impact on the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements.

        In September 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-08 which amends current guidance to allow entities to first assess
qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not (a likelihood of more than 50 percent) that the fair value of a
reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. After assessing qualitative factors, if an entity determines that it is not more
likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, no further testing is necessary. If an
entity determines that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value, then the
traditional two-step goodwill impairment test must be performed. The amendments in ASU 2011-08 are effective for interim
and annual goodwill impairment tests performed for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2011, with early adoption
permitted. The Company early adopted ASU 2011-08 effective the fourth quarter of 2011. The adoption of ASU 2011-08 did
not have a material impact on the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements.

        In December 2011, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2011-11, Balance Sheet (Topic 210):
Disclosures about Offsetting Assets and Liabilities. ASU 2011-11 requires additional disclosure about financial instruments
and derivatives instruments that are subject to netting arrangements to assist users of the financial statements in understanding
the effect of those arrangements on its financial position. The new disclosures are required for reporting periods beginning on
or after January 1, 2013, including retrospectively for all comparative periods presented. The Company is evaluating the
effect of this guidance and does not expect the adoption of ASU 2011-11 to have a material impact on the Company's
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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3. RECEIVABLES FROM AND PAYABLES TO BROKERS, DEALERS AND CLEARING ORGANIZATIONS

        Amounts receivable from and payable to brokers, dealers and clearing organizations consisted of the following:

        Substantially all fails to deliver and fails to receive balances at December 31, 2011 and 2010 have subsequently settled at
the contracted amounts.

        In addition to the balances above, the Company had Payables to clearing services customers of $120,909 and $125,968 at
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. These amounts represent cash payable to the Company's clearing customers, which
are held at the Company's third party clearing firms and are included within Receivables from brokers, dealers and clearing
organizations.

4. PROPERTY, EQUIPMENT AND LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS

        Property, equipment and leasehold improvements consist of the following:
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  December 31,  
  2011  2010  
Receivables from brokers, dealers and clearing

organizations:        
Contract value of fails to deliver  $ 86,097 $ 138,534 
Receivable from clearing organizations and financial

institutions   131,418  105,277 
Net pending trades   394  — 

      

Total  $ 217,909 $ 243,811 
      

Payables to brokers, dealers and clearing organizations:        
Contract value of fails to receive  $ 87,254 $ 156,989 
Payable to clearing organizations and financial

institutions   2,275  797 
Net pending trades   —  14,632 

      

Total  $ 89,529 $ 172,418 
      

  December 31,  
  2011  2010  
Software, including software development costs  $ 110,402 $ 96,658 
Computer equipment   34,314  30,058 
Leasehold improvements   37,925  37,590 
Communications equipment   19,528  17,756 
Furniture and fixtures   9,911  8,535 
Automobiles   717  494 
      

Total   212,797  191,091 
Accumulated depreciation and amortization   (150,850)  (130,479)
      

Property, equipment and leasehold improvements less
accumulated depreciation and amortization  $ 61,947 $ 60,612 
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4. PROPERTY, EQUIPMENT AND LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS (Continued)

        Depreciation and amortization expense on property, equipment and leasehold improvements for the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $21,476, $21,235 and $21,059, respectively.

5. ACQUISITIONS

Mortgage-Backed Security Brokerage Business

        On May 27, 2010, the Company completed the acquisition of a mortgage-backed security brokerage business for
consideration of $5,095. The purchase price was comprised of 681,433 shares of the Company's common stock with a fair
value of $4,095 and contingent consideration estimated at $1,000, which was previously recorded as a liability within Other
liabilities. This contingent liability was remeasured to fair value at each reporting date until the targets for this contingent
liability were achieved in the second quarter of 2011, which resulted in a payment of $1,000. This acquisition was accounted
for as a business combination under the acquisition method. Assets acquired were recorded at fair value and the results of the
acquired company have been included within the Consolidated Financial Statements since the acquisition. The purchase price
was allocated among tangible and intangible assets as follows: fixed assets of $15, customer relationships of $1,700 with an
estimated useful life of 6 years, non-compete agreements of $340 with an estimated useful life of 3.3 years and goodwill of
$3,040. The weighted average amortization for the intangible assets is 5.6 years.

The Kyte Group Limited and Kyte Capital Management Limited

        On July 1, 2010, the Company acquired a 70% equity ownership interest in each of The Kyte Group Limited and Kyte
Capital Management Limited (collectively "Kyte"). The Company will acquire the residual 30% equity interest in Kyte for an
additional cash payment to be made in or about the third quarter of 2013 in an amount to be determined pursuant to a formula
based on Kyte's post-acquisition earnings. Kyte has been included in the Consolidated Financial Statements as a wholly-
owned subsidiary since the acquisition date, with a liability recorded for the future payment to be made in 2013. Included as
part of the purchase price is £5,000 (or approximately $7,592) that was deposited into an escrow account with a third-party
escrow agent and 1,339,158 contingently issuable shares of the Company's common stock, all of which will be delivered to
the selling shareholders of Kyte upon the satisfaction of certain conditions related to one of Kyte's investments in a third
party.

        Kyte, which is a member of several exchanges, including NYSE Euronext, NYSE LIFFE and Eurex, provides clearing,
brokerage, settlement and back-office services to proprietary traders, brokers, market makers and hedge funds. Kyte provides
capital to select start-up trading groups, small hedge funds, market-makers and individual traders. As part of the purchase
agreement, over the period from initial acquisition to when the Company will acquire the residual 30% equity interest in Kyte,
the Company agreed to make up to £20,000 available to Kyte Capital Management Limited for investments in new trading
entities subject to certain approvals. The Company acquired Kyte because of its expertise in listed derivative markets, its risk
management platforms and its unique clearing, broking
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5. ACQUISITIONS (Continued)

and investment services business model. The cash portion of the purchase price of the transaction was financed from the
Company's internal cash resources. The purchase price consisted of the following:

        The fair value of the 4,149,820 common shares issued and issuable was determined based on the closing market price of
the Company's common shares on July 1, 2010, the closing date of the acquisition.

        The future purchase commitment requires the Company to pay an additional cash payment based on the performance of
Kyte during the three year period ending June 30, 2013. The Company elected the fair value option for this purchase
commitment as of the date of acquisition and determined the fair value using the income approach. Subsequent changes in the
fair value of the future purchase commitment are recorded in Other income in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The
fair value of the future purchase commitment at the acquisition date was $19,264 which assumed a 17.7% discount rate and
was recorded as a liability within Other liabilities. In applying the income approach, the Company used forecasted financial
information for Kyte for the remaining three year period ending June 30, 2013.

        The fair value of the future purchase commitment and the discount rate used in its estimated fair value as of December 31,
2011 and 2010 were as follows:

        The amount of the future purchase commitment accrued in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition at
December 31, 2011 decreased from December 31, 2010, primarily due to differences between initial forecasts and actual results
since the acquisition, as well as changes to the forecasted performance for Kyte for the remaining period ending June 30, 2013.
From the acquisition date on July 1, 2010 through December 31, 2010, the amount accrued in the Consolidated Statements of
Financial Condition increased due to an increase in the net present value of the liability due to the passage of time and foreign
currency translation, offset by differences between initial forecasts and actual results since the acquisition, as well as changes
to the forecasted performance of Kyte for the remaining period ending June 30, 2013.
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Fair value of consideration transferred:     
Cash paid at closing  $ 33,996 
Cash paid for surplus working capital   7,050 
Common stock issued at closing (2,810,662 shares)   15,993 
Contingently issuable shares (1,339,158 shares)   7,620 
Estimated future purchase commitment   19,264 
    

Total  $ 83,923 
    

  December 31,  
  2011  2010  
Fair Value of Future Purchase Commitment (included within

Other liabilities)  $ 12,562 $ 19,604 
Discount Rate   16.0%  17.7%
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5. ACQUISITIONS (Continued)

        This acquisition was accounted for as a business combination under the acquisition method. Assets acquired and
liabilities assumed were recorded at their fair values as of July 1, 2010. Management determined the fair value of the
identifiable intangible assets acquired utilizing an independent valuation performed by a third-party specialist. The purchase
price allocation, as presented below, was translated into U.S. dollars based on the foreign exchange rate on July 1, 2010:
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    Useful Life  
Assets:        
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 21,488    
Cash segregated under federal and other regulations   8,086    
Deposits with clearing organizations   16,734    
Commissions receivable   19,035    
Receivables from brokers, dealers and clearing

organizations   94,849    
Intangible assets subject to amortization:        

Customer relationships   14,485  6 Years  
Trade name   1,020  10 Years  
Internally developed software   3,170  3 Years  
Non-compete agreements   211  5 Years  

Goodwill(1)(2)   39,736    
Other assets(1)(2)   21,152    
       

Total assets acquired   239,966    
       

Liabilities and non-controlling interests:        
Accounts payable and accrued expenses   24,925    
Payables to clearing services customers   116,623    
Other liabilities(3)   13,758    
Non-controlling interests   737    
       

Total liabilities and non-controlling interests assumed   156,043    
       

Net assets acquired  $ 83,923    
       

(1) During the fourth quarter of 2010, the Company recorded an adjustment to its purchase price
allocation for Kyte in the amount of $4,928 in Other assets for a receivable related to one of Kyte's
investments in a third party. The Company recognized this adjustment based on additional
information which supported the collectability of the receivable with the third party. The Company
adjusted residual goodwill accordingly. 

(2) During the second quarter of 2011, the Company recorded adjustments to its purchase price
allocation for Kyte in the net amount of $1,546 in Other assets. This adjustment included a $2,925
decrease to goodwill related to all pre-acquisition earnings in an unconsolidated affiliate not
previously recognized by Kyte that should have been accounted for under the equity method since
the acquisition date, offset by a $1,379 increase to goodwill related to final tax adjustments for the
Kyte acquisition. The Company adjusted residual goodwill accordingly.
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5. ACQUISITIONS (Continued)

        Total intangible assets acquired in the Kyte transaction that are subject to amortization totaled $18,886 and have a
weighted-average useful life of approximately 6 years.

        All of the goodwill acquired was assigned to the Clearing and Backed Trading segment. None of the goodwill is expected
to be deductible for income tax purposes.

        In connection with the Kyte acquisition, the Company recognized $2,498 of acquisition related costs that are included in
Professional fees and Other expenses in its Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2010.

        The amounts of revenue and net loss of Kyte included in the Company's Consolidated Statement of Operations from the
July 1, 2010 acquisition date to the period ending December 31, 2010 were as follows:

Fixed Income Brokerage Business

        On November 1, 2010, the Company purchased the remaining 67% of the shares of an over-the-counter brokerage
business in the U.K. The business has been included in the Consolidated Financial Statements as a wholly-owned subsidiary
since the acquisition date. The business primarily engages in executing bond trades on a matched principal basis. The
allocation of the purchase price to the net assets as of November 1, 2010 consisted of the following:

        The cash paid at closing and as additional consideration was financed from the Company's internal cash resources.

        The fair value of the 2,343,758 common shares issued was determined using the closing market price of the Company's
common shares on November 1, 2010 and applying a discount to that price due to certain restrictions on the issued shares over
a 2.5 and 5 year period from the date of acquisition. The Company utilized a third party valuation firm to assist management
in the determination of an
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(3) During the fourth quarter of 2010, the Company reclassified $1,219 from "Intangible assets, net" to
"Other liabilities" in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition. These amounts related to
the fair value of contractual obligations that were deemed unfavorable and therefore recognized and
valued as such as of the date of the acquisition as part of the Company's purchase price allocation.

Revenue  $ 52,343 
    

Net loss  $ (2,494)
    

Cash paid at closing  $ 11,229 
Common stock issued at closing (2,343,758 shares)   7,938 
Cash paid as additional consideration to selling shareholders   1,076 
    

Total fair value of consideration transferred  $ 20,243 
Total fair value of previous equity interest  $ 7,677 
    

Total fair value  $ 27,920 
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(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

5. ACQUISITIONS (Continued)

appropriate discount rate based on the results of various quantitative methods under the assumption that there is a discount in
the value of a company's stock that is and is not marketable. These methods are commonly used valuation practices.

        This acquisition was accounted for as a business combination achieved in stages under the acquisition method. Prior to
the acquisition date, the Company accounted for its 33% interest in the business as an equity method investment. The
acquisition date fair value of the previous equity interest was $7,677 and is included in the measurement of the total fair value
of the business. The Company recognized a gain of $3,695 as a result of remeasuring its prior equity interest in the business
held before the business combination. The gain is included in the line item "Other income" in the Company's Consolidated
Statement of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2010.

        The following table summarizes the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their acquisition date fair values.
Management determined the fair value of the identifiable intangible assets acquired based upon an independent valuation
performed by a third-party specialist. The purchase price allocation, as presented below, was translated into U.S. dollars based
on the foreign exchange rate on November 1, 2010:

        Total intangible assets acquired in the transaction that are subject to amortization totaled $13,634 and have a weighted-
average useful life of approximately 6 years.

        All of the goodwill acquired was assigned to the EMEA Brokerage segment. None of the goodwill is expected to be
deductible for income tax purposes.

        In connection with the acquisition, the Company recognized $299 of acquisition related costs that are included in
Professional fees and Other expenses in its Consolidated Statement of Operations for
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    Useful Life  
Assets:        
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 3,800    
Deposits with clearing organizations   1,792    
Receivables from brokers, dealers and clearing organizations   2,377    
Intangible assets subject to amortization:        

Customer relationships   13,474  6 Years  
Trade name   160  5 Years  

Goodwill   12,419    
Other assets   312    
       

Total assets acquired   34,334    
       

Liabilities:        
Accounts payable and accrued expenses   1,555    
Deferred tax liabilities   3,691    
Other liabilities   1,168    
       

Total liabilities assumed   6,414    
       

Net assets acquired  $ 27,920    
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5. ACQUISITIONS (Continued)

the year ended December 31, 2010. The Company also recognized compensation expense of $1,597 related to the
renegotiation of certain employment agreements in connection with the acquisition. The expense is included in its
Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2010 in Compensation and employee benefits.

        The amounts of revenue and net income of the business included in the Company's Consolidated Statement of Operations
from the November 1, 2010 acquisition date to the period ending December 31, 2010 are as follows:

6. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

        Goodwill—Changes in the carrying amount of the Company's goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010
were as follows:

120

Revenue  $ 2,986 
    

Net income(1)  $ 442 
    

(1) Does not include the one-time expense of $1,597 related to the renegotiation of certain employment
agreements in connection with the acquisition.

  
December 31,

2010  
Goodwill
acquired  Adjustments(1)  

Foreign currency
translation  

December 31,
2011  

Goodwill                 
Americas Brokerage  $ 83,289 $ — $ — $ — $ 83,289 
EMEA Brokerage   13,895  —  —  (44)  13,851 
Asia Brokerage   —  —  —  —  — 
Clearing and Backed

Trading   42,413  —  (1,546)  (192)  40,675 
All Other   128,691  —  —  —  128,691 
            

 $ 268,288 $ — $ (1,546) $ (236) $ 266,506 
            

(1) During the second quarter of 2011, the Company recorded adjustments to its purchase price allocation for
Kyte in the net amount of $1,546.

  
December 31,

2009  
Goodwill
acquired  Adjustments  

Foreign currency
translation  

December 31,
2010  

Goodwill                 
Americas Brokerage  $ 80,249 $ 3,040 $ — $ — $ 83,289 
EMEA Brokerage   1,818  12,419  —  (342)  13,895 
Asia Brokerage   —  —  —  —  — 
Clearing and Backed

Trading   —  41,282  —  1,131  42,413 
All Other   128,691  —  —  —  128,691 
            

 $ 210,758 $ 56,741 $ — $ 789 $ 268,288 
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6. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

        Goodwill is required to be tested for impairment at least annually and more frequently when indicators of impairment
exist. All of the Company's goodwill is allocated to its reporting units and the goodwill impairment tests are performed at the
reporting unit level. As discussed in Note 2, based on the results of the annual impairment tests, no goodwill impairment was
recognized during the years ended December 31, 2011 or 2010.

        Intangible Assets—Intangible assets consisted of the following:

        In July 2011, the Company completed an asset purchase of certain patents from a third party for consideration in the
amount of $3,100. The patents have a weighted-average useful life of approximately 6 years.

        Amortization expense for the years ending December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $12,190, $7,815 and $5,465,
respectively.

        At December 31, 2011, expected amortization expense for the definite lived intangible assets is as follows:
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  December 31, 2011  December 31, 2010  

  
Gross

amount  

Accumulated
amortization
and foreign

currency
translation  

Net
carrying

value  
Gross

amount  

Accumulated
amortization
and foreign

currency
translation  

Net
carrying

value  
Amortized

intangible assets:                    
Customer

relationships  $ 77,151 $ 27,606 $ 49,545 $ 76,951 $ 18,165 $ 58,786 
Trade names   8,951  5,719  3,232  8,951  4,866  4,085 
Core technology   6,400  4,777  1,623  6,400  3,686  2,714 
Non compete

agreements   3,874  3,463  411  3,874  3,048  826 
Favorable lease

agreements   620  420  200  620  340  280 
Patents   3,131  225  2,906  31  16  15 

Unamortized
intangible assets:                    
Proprietary

knowledge   110  —  110  110  —  110 
              

Total  $ 100,237  42,210 $ 58,027 $ 96,937 $ 30,121 $ 66,816 
              

2012  $ 11,107 
2013   9,123 
2014   8,398 
2015   8,303 
2016   6,351 
Thereafter   14,635 
    

Total  $ 57,917 
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7. OTHER ASSETS AND OTHER LIABILITIES

        Other assets consisted of the following:

        On February 28, 2010, the Company purchased a 40% interest in the outstanding membership interests of an independent
brokerage firm with a proprietary trading platform. The aggregate purchase price was comprised of $10,000 in cash and
414,938 shares of the Company's common stock. The target retained $8,000 of the cash portion of the purchase price for
working capital. Additionally, the Company committed to purchase the remaining membership interests in increments of 20%
by the third quarter of 2013, subject to customary closing conditions. The purchase price for the remaining membership
interests was to be paid in cash and established by a formula based on the target's future results of operations. On
November 30, 2011, the purchase agreement was amended and the Company exchanged its membership interests in the target
for a convertible senior secured promissory note (the "Note") due in 2016 with a face value of $14,059. At the Company's
discretion, the Note may be converted into a 49% membership interest in the target. Upon the exchange of its membership
interests, the Company recognized a loss of $4,094 for the difference between the book value of the membership interests and
the fair value of the Note. The Company accounted for the Note as an available-for-sale security. As of December 31, 2011,
the Note had a fair value of $5,362 recorded within Other assets in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition.

        On August 1, 2010, the Company purchased a 33% interest in the outstanding membership interests of an independent
Commodity Futures Trading Commission ("CFTC") registered Futures Commission Merchant for $11,000 in cash. The firm is
also a Foreign Exchange Dealer member of the National Futures Association and provides direct market access in certain
foreign exchange markets. This investment is accounted for under the equity method. On October 28, 2011, the Company
purchased an additional 5.5% interest in this entity for $1,100 in cash and continues to account for the investment under the
equity method.
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  December 31,  
  2011  2010  
Prepaid bonuses  $ 36,797 $ 37,248 
Deferred tax assets(1)   47,617  39,751 
Investments accounted for under the cost method and

equity method   35,960  38,097 
Forgivable employee loans and advances to employees   23,909  8,690 
Software inventory, net   6,909  10,662 
Financial instruments owned   6,864  5,665 
Deferred financing fees on 8.375% Senior Notes   8,552  — 
Other(1)   32,061  25,507 
      

Total Other assets(1)  $ 198,669 $ 165,620 
      

(1) Restated to reflect immaterial restatement. See Note 2 for further information.
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7. OTHER ASSETS AND OTHER LIABILITIES (Continued)

        Other liabilities consisted of the following:

8. SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS AND LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS

        The Company had outstanding Long-term obligations as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 as follows:

8.375% Senior Notes

        In July 2011, the Company issued $250,000 in aggregate principal amount of 8.375% Senior Notes (the "8.375% Senior
Notes") due 2018 in a private offering (the "Offering") to qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A and to certain
persons in offshore transactions pursuant to Regulation S, each under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities
Act"). The notes were priced to investors at 100% of their principal amount, and mature in July 2018. Interest on these notes
accrues at a rate of 8.375% per annum and is payable, commencing in January 2012, semi-annually in arrears on the 19th of
January and July. Transaction costs of approximately $9,100 related to the 8.375% Senior Notes will be deferred and
amortized over the term of the notes. On December 21, 2011, the Company completed an exchange offer for the 8.375%
Senior Notes whereby it exchanged $250,000 in aggregate principal amount of the 8.375% Senior Notes for 8.375% Senior
Notes that are registered under the Securities Act. At December 31, 2011, unamortized deferred financing fees related to the
8.375% Senior Notes of $8,552 were recorded within Other assets and the Company was in compliance with all applicable
covenants.
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  December 31,  
  2011  2010  
Deferred revenues  $ 16,879 $ 15,962 
Payroll related liabilities   16,364  14,750 
Future purchase commitment and contingent consideration

liabilities   13,681  22,415 
Deferred tax liabilities(1)   14,962  12,234 
Unrecognized tax benefits(1)   11,187  11,850 
Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased   976  6,769 
Other(1)   23,514  26,563 
      

Total Other liabilities(1)  $ 97,563 $ 110,543 
      

(1) Restated to reflect immaterial restatement. See Note 2 for further information.

    December 31,  
  Maturity Date  2011  2010  
Long-term obligations:          

8.375% Senior Notes  July 2018  $ 250,000 $ — 
7.17% Senior Notes  January 2013   —  59,743 

        

Total Long-term obligations    $ 250,000 $ 59,743 
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8. SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS AND LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (Continued)

7.17% Senior Notes

        In January 2008, pursuant to a note purchase agreement with certain institutional investors (the "2008 Note Purchase
Agreement"), the Company issued $60,000 in aggregate principal amount of senior secured notes due in January 2013 (the
"7.17% Senior Notes") in a private placement. In July 2011, the Company used $67,797 of the net proceeds from the Offering
of the 8.375% Senior Notes to redeem all of its existing 7.17% Senior Notes due 2013, including all accrued and unpaid
interest thereunder, and to pay all premiums and transaction expenses associated therewith. Prior to redemption, interest on the
7.17% Senior Notes accrued at a rate of 7.17% per annum and was payable semi-annually in arrears on the 30th of January and
July and the Company's obligations under the 7.17% Senior Notes were secured by substantially all of the assets of the
Company and certain assets of the Company's subsidiaries. The 2008 Note Purchase Agreement contained covenants with
which the Company was required to comply, including among others, maintenance of certain financial ratios and restrictions
on additional indebtedness, liens and dispositions. At December 31, 2010, the 7.17% Senior Notes were recorded net of
unamortized deferred financing fees of $257 and the Company was in compliance with all applicable covenants.

Credit Agreement

        In December 2010, the Company entered into a second amended and restated credit agreement (as amended and restated,
the "Credit Agreement") with Bank of America, N.A. and certain other lenders. The Credit Agreement matures on December 20,
2013 and provides for maximum borrowings of up to $129,500, which includes up to $50,000 for letters of credit. Revolving
loans may be either base rate loans or Eurocurrency rate loans. Eurocurrency rate loans bear interest at the annualized rate of
one-month LIBOR plus the application margin, letter of credit fees per annum are equal to the applicable margin times the
outstanding amount drawn under such letter of credit and base rate loans bear interest at a rate per annum equal to a prime rate
plus the applicable margin in effect for that interest period. As long as no default has occurred under the Credit Agreement, the
applicable margin for both the base rate and Eurocurrency rate loans is based on a matrix that varies with a ratio of
outstanding debt to EBITDA, as defined in the Credit Agreement.

        In July 2011, the Company used $135,319 of the net proceeds from the Offering of the 8.375% Senior Notes to repay all
then outstanding amounts under the Credit Agreement, including accrued and unpaid interest.

        As a result of the Offering, the available borrowing capacity under the Credit Agreement decreased from $200,000 to
approximately $129,500. Pursuant to the terms of the Credit Agreement, following the redemption of the 7.17% Senior Notes,
the lenders released all of the security supporting the Credit Agreement and the Company is no longer required to secure
amounts outstanding under the Credit Agreement with any of its assets or the assets of the Company's subsidiaries.
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8. SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS AND LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (Continued)

        The Company had outstanding borrowings under its Credit Agreement as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 as follows:

        The Company's commitments for outstanding letters of credit relate to potential collateral requirements associated with its
matched principal business. Since commitments associated with these outstanding letters of credit may expire unused, the
amounts shown above do not necessarily reflect actual future cash funding requirements.

        The weighted average interest rate of outstanding loans under the Credit Agreement was 3.06% for the year ended
December 31, 2010. At December 31, 2011 and 2010, unamortized deferred financing fees related to the Credit Agreement
were $1,738 and $2,297, respectively.

        The Credit Agreement contains certain financial and other covenants. The Company was in compliance with all
applicable covenants at December 31, 2011 and 2010.

9. INCOME TAXES

        The provision for income taxes consists of the following:

        The Company had pre-tax income from foreign operations of $37,589, $81,768 and $70,990 for the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Pre-tax (loss) from domestic operations
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  December 31,  
  2011  2010  
Loans Available(1)  $ 129,500 $ 200,000 
Loans Outstanding  $ — $ 135,000 

(1) Amounts available include up to $50,000 for letters of credit as of December 31, 2011 and
December 31, 2010.

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2011  2010  2009  
Current provision (benefit):           

Federal  $ (7,001) $ 5,501 $ 5,505 
Foreign   13,935  22,256  27,592 
State and local   579  759  6,696 

        

Total current provision   7,513  28,516  39,793 
Deferred (benefit) provision:           

Federal   (3,681)  (20,505)  (18,400)
Foreign   (1,749)  1,987  (3,480)
State and local   564  (4,114)  (10,931)

        

Total deferred (benefit)   (4,866)  (22,632)  (32,811)
        

Total provision for income taxes  $ 2,647 $ 5,884 $ 6,982 
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9. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

was $(37,507), $(49,965) and ($47,718) for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

        Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of
assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when such differences are
expected to reverse. Significant components of the Company's gross deferred tax assets and liabilities are set forth below:

        As a result of certain realization requirements of ASC 718, the table of deferred tax assets and liabilities shown above
does not include certain deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 that arose directly from tax deductions related
to equity compensation in excess of compensation expense recognized for financial reporting purposes. Stockholders' Equity
will be increased by $1,102 when such deferred tax assets are ultimately realized. The Company uses tax law ordering when
determining when excess tax benefits have been realized.

        During the fourth quarter of 2011, the Company completed an analysis of its tax assets and liabilities. As a result of that
analysis, the Company determined that it had overstated its provision for income taxes in certain prior years, and has restated
those balances accordingly. See Note 2 for additional information.
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As of
December 31,

2011  

As of
December 31,

2010  

    

As
Previously
Reported  Adjustment  

As
Restated  

Deferred tax assets:              
Share-based compensation  $ 19,246 $ 11,431 $ — $ 11,431 
Net operating loss

carryforwards   40,391  31,287  2,870  34,157 
Foreign deferred items   3,398  5,218  4,573  9,791 
Unrealized loss on currency

hedging   —  806  (806)  — 
Foreign tax credits   1,192  1,192  —  1,192 
General business credit   3,020  2,724  —  2,724 
Liability reserves   5,274  4,964  —  4,964 
Prepaid expenses   4,076  8,677  —  8,677 
Other, net   2,994  2,043  646  2,689 
Valuation allowance   (15,677)  (7,424)  (2,878)  (10,302)
          

Total deferred tax assets  $ 63,914 $ 60,918 $ 4,405 $ 65,323 
Deferred tax liabilities:              
Depreciation and amortization  $ (10,009) $ (15,851) $ 1,902 $ (13,949)
Intangible amortization   (20,940)  (22,016)  (671)  (22,687)
Prepaid bonuses   (310)  (781)  (389)  (1,170)
          

Total deferred tax liabilities  $ (31,259) $ (38,648) $ 842 $ (37,806)
          

Net deferred tax assets  $ 32,655 $ 22,270 $ 5,247 $ 27,517 
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9. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

        Cumulative undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries were approximately $311,056 at December 31, 2011. U.S.
income and foreign withholding taxes have not been recognized on the excess of the amount for financial reporting over the
tax basis of investments in foreign subsidiaries that are essentially permanent in duration. This amount becomes taxable upon
a repatriation of assets from the subsidiary or a sale or liquidation of the subsidiary. However, we consider the undistributed
earnings of our foreign subsidiaries to be indefinitely reinvested and, accordingly, no U.S. income taxes have been provided
thereon. Determination of the amount of any unrecognized deferred income tax liability is not practicable because of the
complexities of the hypothetical calculation. We have not, nor do we anticipate the need to, repatriate funds to the U.S. to
satisfy domestic liquidity needs arising in the ordinary course of business, including liquidity needs associated with our
domestic debt service requirements.

        The deferred tax assets relating to foreign deferred items listed above consist primarily of depreciation and amortization,
deferred compensation and unpaid intra-group royalties and interest. The valuation allowance relates primarily to the inability
to utilize net operating losses and foreign tax credits in various tax jurisdictions. At December 31, 2011, the Company
established a valuation allowance for the current year's state and local net operating loss, to the extent that it is more likely
than not unrealizable. The Company had U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards of $57,337, U.S. state and local net
operating loss carryforwards of $101,072 and foreign net operating loss carryforwards of $48,051. The U.S. amounts are
subject to annual limitations on utilization and will begin to expire in 2018. The foreign amounts are subject to annual
limitations on utilization and will generally begin to expire in 2012. Further, the Company has $1,192 of foreign tax credit
carryforwards at December 31, 2011 that will begin to expire in 2012. The Company continues to monitor the realizability of
these losses and believes it is more likely than not that the tax benefits associated with these losses will be realized to the
extent a valuation allowance has not been established. In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management
considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized and, when
necessary, a valuation allowance is established. The ultimate realization of the deferred tax assets is dependent upon the
generation of future taxable income during the periods in which temporary differences become deductible. Management
considers the following possible sources of taxable income when assessing the realization of deferred tax assets:

• future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences; 

• future taxable income exclusive of reversing temporary differences and carryforwards; 

• taxable income in prior carryback years; and 

• tax-planning strategies.

The assessment regarding whether a valuation allowance is required or should be adjusted also considers all available positive
and negative evidence, including, but not limited to, the following:

• the nature, frequency, and severity of any recent losses; 

• the duration of statutory carryforward periods; 

• historical experience with tax attributes expiring unused; and
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9. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

• the Company's estimated near- and medium-term financial outlook.

        In making the determination of the realizability of these deferred tax assets we have identified certain prudent and
feasible tax planning strategies that we will implement unless the need to do so is eliminated in the future. However, this
determination is a judgment and could be impacted by further market fluctuations.

        The corporate statutory U.S. federal tax rate was 35.0% for the three years presented. A reconciliation of the Company's
provision for income tax and the statutory tax rate is as follows:

        Income tax expense of approximately $1,764, $2,042 and $5,577 from the exercise of stock options and the vesting of
RSUs was recorded directly to additional paid-in capital in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

        Total unrecognized tax benefits (net of the federal benefit on state tax positions) as of December 31, 2011 were
approximately $12,021, including interest of $834, all of which could affect the effective income tax rate in future periods. A
liability for an unrecognized tax benefit of $2,493 relating to years prior to 2009 had been classified as taxes payable and was
previously omitted from the

128

  December 31,  
  2011  2010  2009  
Federal income tax provision (benefit) at statutory

rate  $ 29 $ 11,131 $ 8,145 
U.S. state and local income taxes, net of federal tax

benefit   (1,951)  (2,353)  (2,738)
U.S. state and local valuation allowance   3,094  —  — 
Foreign operations   (992)  (5,436)  (856)
Non-deductible expenses   1,991  2,045  1,776 
General business credit   (464)  (402)  (490)
(Decreases) increases in unrecognized tax benefits,

net   (663)  1,077  1,190 
Net adjustment related to the reconciliation of

income tax provision (benefit) accruals to tax
returns   1,428  (357)  — 

Tax-Exempt Income   —  (7)  (45)
Other   175  186  — 
        

Provision for income taxes  $ 2,647 $ 5,884 $ 6,982 
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9. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

reconciliation below. The reclassification of this amount did not cause the balance sheet to be restated. A reconciliation of the
beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

        The Company is under continuous examination by the Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS") and other tax authorities in
certain countries, such as the U.K., and states in which the Company has significant business operations, such as New York.
The Company is currently under examination by the IRS as a result of net operating loss carryback covering tax years 2004 -
 2009. Also, the Company is currently at various levels of field examination with respect to audits with the New York State
and New York City, for tax years 2006 - 2008. The Company has substantially concluded all U.S. federal, state and local
income tax matters for years prior to 2004.

        In the U.K., the Company is in discussion with tax authorities regarding whether certain compensation expenses were
deductible by the Company in prior years. A portion of the compensation payment is held by a trustee and the Company may
request but not compel the trustee to use the money to offset the cost to the Company of the potential tax liability, if any,
arising from the disallowance of the deduction.

        The Company believes that the resolution of tax matters will not have a material effect on the consolidated statements of
financial condition of the Company, although a resolution could have a material impact on the Company's consolidated
statements of income for a particular future period and on the Company's effective income tax rate for any period in which
such resolution occurs. The Company has established a liability for unrecognized tax benefits that the Company believes is
adequate in relation to the potential for additional assessments. Once established, the Company adjusts unrecognized tax
benefits only when more information is available or when an event occurs necessitating a change.
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Liability for
Unrecognized Tax

Benefits  
Unrecognized tax benefits balance at December 31, 2008, as

previously reported  $ 7,156 
Unrecognized tax benefits balance, as previously reported in taxes

payable   2,493 
    

Unrecognized tax benefits balance at December 31, 2008  $ 9,649 
Gross increases—current period tax positions   2,077 
Lapse of statute of limitations   (953)
    

Unrecognized tax benefits balance at December 31, 2009  $ 10,773 
Gross increases—current period tax positions   1,076 
Lapse of statute of limitations   — 
    

Unrecognized tax benefits balance at December 31, 2010  $ 11,849 
Gross increases—current period tax positions   — 
Lapse of statute of limitations   (662)
    

Unrecognized tax benefits balance at December 31, 2011  $ 11,187 
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9. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

        The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to income tax matters in interest expense and other expense,
respectively. As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company had approximately $834 and $153 of accrued interest related
to uncertain tax positions, respectively.

10. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Share Issuance

        During 2011 and 2010, the Company issued 3,142,758 and 2,125,632 shares of common stock, respectively, in
connection with the exercise of stock options and vesting of RSUs. The Company received total cash proceeds of $75 and
$645 in 2011 and 2010, respectively, in connection with the exercise of stock options. In 2011, in connection with an
investment, the Company issued 138,313 shares of common stock as part of the purchase price. In 2010, in connection with
various acquisitions, the Company issued 5,835,853 shares of common stock in the aggregate as part of the purchase price of
such acquisitions. See Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information related to these acquisitions.

Common Stock

        Each holder of the Company's common stock is entitled to one vote per share on all matters submitted to a vote of
stockholders. Subject to the rights of holders of the Company's preferred stock, if any, the holders of shares of the Company's
common stock are entitled to receive dividends when, as and if declared by the Company's Board of Directors.

        On each of March 31, May 31, August 31 and November 30, 2011, the Company paid a cash dividend of $0.05 per share,
which, based upon the number of shares outstanding on the record date for such dividends, totaled $6,100, $6,205, $5,955
and $5,920, respectively. On December 30, 2010, the Company paid a special cash dividend of $0.25 per share, which, based
on the number of shares outstanding on the record date for such dividend, totaled $30,488. On each of March 29, May 28,
August 31, and November 30, 2010, the Company paid a cash dividend of $0.05 per share, which, based upon the number of
shares outstanding on the record date for such dividends, totaled $5,928, $5,956, $6,088 and $6,198, respectively.

Preferred Stock

        As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company had one class of preferred stock with 5,000,000 shares authorized and
none issued.
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Shares of

Common Stock  
Authorized (at December 31, 2011)   400,000,000 
Outstanding:     

December 31, 2009   118,426,573 
December 31, 2010   122,125,491 
December 31, 2011   117,524,638 
Par value per share  $ 0.01 
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10. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (Continued)

Treasury Stock

        In August 2007, the Company's Board of Directors authorized the Company to implement a stock repurchase program to
repurchase a limited number of shares of the Company's common stock. Under the repurchase plan, the Board of Directors
authorized the Company to repurchase shares of the Company's common stock on the open market in such amounts as
determined by the Company's management, provided, however, such amounts are not to exceed, during any calendar year, the
number of shares issued upon the exercise of stock options plus the number of shares underlying grants of RSUs that are
granted or which management reasonably anticipates will be granted in such calendar year. During the year ended
December 31, 2011, the Company repurchased 5,650,000 shares of its common stock on the open market at an average price
of $4.55 per share and for a total cost of $25,868, including sales commissions. During the year ended December 31, 2010, the
Company repurchased 3,062,567 shares of its common stock on the open market at an average price of $5.39 per share and for
a total cost of $16,609, including sales commissions. These repurchased shares were recorded at cost as treasury stock in the
Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition.

        On November 15, 2011, the Company entered into a stock purchase agreement with Michael Gooch and JPI pursuant to
which the Company purchased 1,053,746 and 1,163,548 shares of the Company's common stock held by Michael Gooch and
JPI, respectively, for an aggregate purchase price of $10,000. The purchase price was calculated based on the $4.51 per share
closing price of the Company's common stock on the New York Stock Exchange Euronext on November 15, 2011. On
December 9, 2010, the Company and JPI entered into a stock purchase agreement pursuant to which GFI purchased 1,200,000
shares of the Company's common stock held by JPI for an aggregate purchase price of $6,000. The purchase price was
calculated based on the $5.00 per share closing price of the Company's common stock on the New York Stock Exchange
Euronext on December 8, 2010. The review and approval of these stock purchase agreements was delegated by the Company's
Board of Directors to its Audit Committee, comprised of solely independent directors, which approved such stock purchase
agreements. These repurchased shares were recorded at cost as treasury stock in the Consolidated Statements of Financial
Condition.

11. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE

        Basic (loss) earnings per share for common stock is calculated by dividing net (loss) income available to common
stockholders by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted (loss)
earnings per share is calculated by dividing net (loss) income by the sum of: (i) the weighted average number of shares
outstanding, (ii) outstanding stock options and RSUs (using the "treasury stock" method when the impact of such options and
RSUs would be dilutive), and (iii) any contingently issuable shares when dilutive.
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11. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)

        Basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 were as follows:

        Excluded from the computation of diluted (loss) earnings per share because their effect would be anti-dilutive were the
following: 2,437,984 RSUs and 96,752 options for the year ended December 31, 2011; 1,643,217 RSUs and 56,033 options
for the year ended December 31, 2010; and 2,065,724 RSUs and 59,033 options for the year ended December 31, 2009.

12. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

        The Company issues RSUs to its employees under the GFI Group Inc. 2008 Equity Incentive Plan, which was approved by
the Company's stockholders on June 11, 2008 (as amended, the "2008 Equity Incentive Plan"). The 2008 Equity Incentive
Plan was subsequently amended at each of the Company's annual stockholders meetings since the Plan was initially approved
in order to increase the number of shares of common stock available for grant under the Plan. Prior to June 11, 2008, the
Company issued RSUs under the GFI Group Inc. 2004 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2004 Equity Incentive Plan").

        The 2008 Equity Incentive Plan permits the grant of non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, shares of
restricted stock, RSUs and performance units to employees, non-employee directors or consultants. The Company issues shares
from authorized but unissued shares, which are reserved for issuance upon the vesting of RSUs granted pursuant to the 2008
Equity Incentive Plan. As of December 31, 2011, there were 9,539,374 shares of common stock available for future grants of
awards under this plan, which amount, pursuant to the terms of the 2008 Equity Incentive Plan, may be increased for the
number of shares subject to awards under the 2004 Equity

132

  December 31,  
  2011  2010  2009  
Basic (loss) earnings per share           

GFI's net (loss) income  $ (3,181) $ 25,615 $ 16,288 
        

Weighted average common shares
outstanding   118,334,995  120,275,918  118,178,493 

        

Basic (loss) earnings per share  $ (0.03) $ 0.21 $ 0.14 
        

Diluted (loss) earnings per share           
GFI's net (loss) income  $ (3,181) $ 25,615 $ 16,288 
Weighted average common shares

outstanding   118,334,995  120,275,918  118,178,493 
Effect of dilutive options, RSUs, restricted

stock, and other contingently issuable
shares(1)   —  5,246,210  3,398,274 

        

Weighted average shares outstanding and
common stock equivalents   118,334,995  125,522,128  121,576,767 

        

Diluted (loss) earnings per share  $ (0.03) $ 0.20 $ 0.13 
        

(1) Potential common shares related to 4,191,049 RSUs, 146,257 options, and 3,936,047 contingently
issuable shares were excluded from the computation of diluted loss per share for the year ended
December 31, 2011 as a result of the net loss for the respective period.
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12. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)

Incentive Plan that are ultimately not delivered to employees. The fair value of RSUs is based on the closing price of the
Company's common stock on the date of grant and is recorded as compensation expense over the service period, net of
estimated forfeitures.

        The following is a summary of RSU transactions under both the 2008 Equity Incentive Plan and the 2004 Equity
Incentive Plan:

        The weighted average fair value of RSUs granted during 2011 was $4.74 per unit, compared with $5.50 per unit for the
same period in the prior year. Total compensation expense and related income tax benefits recognized in relation to RSUs is as
follows:

        The Company has modified the vesting terms of RSU grants for certain employees in connection with the execution of
new employment agreements or the termination of employment. As a result of these modifications, the Company recorded
incremental compensation expense totaling $2,210, $66 and $708 during 2011, 2010, and 2009, respectively.

        At December 31, 2011, total unrecognized compensation cost related to the RSUs prior to the consideration of expected
forfeitures was approximately $61,905 and is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.92 years. The
total fair value of RSUs that vested during the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $27,407, $22,950 and
$25,326, respectively.

        As of December 31, 2011, the Company had stock options outstanding under two plans: the GFI Group 2002 Stock
Option Plan (the "GFI Group 2002 Plan") and the GFInet Inc. 2000 Stock Option
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  RSUs  

Weighted-Average
Grant Date
Fair Value  

Outstanding December 31, 2008   3,961,310 $ 12.95 
Granted   8,423,013  4.04 
Vested   (1,934,751)  13.09 
Cancelled   (241,387)  13.00 

      

Outstanding December 31, 2009   10,208,185  5.57 
Granted   8,128,286  5.50 
Vested   (3,075,790)  7.46 
Cancelled   (715,544)  5.50 

      

Outstanding December 31, 2010   14,545,137  5.14 
Granted   9,250,544  4.74 
Vested   (5,095,883)  5.38 
Cancelled   (742,072)  5.69 

      

Outstanding December 31, 2011   17,957,726 $ 4.84 
      

  For the Year Ended December 31,  
  2011  2010  2009  
Compensation expense  $ 32,772 $ 26,674 $ 25,820 
Income tax benefits  $ 11,011 $ 4,926 $ 7,746 
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12. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)

Plan (the "GFInet 2000 Plan"). No additional grants will be made under these plans. Under each plan: options were granted to
employees, non-employee directors or consultants to the Company; both incentive and non-qualified stock options were
available for grant; options were issued with terms up to ten years from date of grant; and options were generally issued with
an exercise price equal to or greater than the fair market value at the time the option was granted. In addition to these terms,
both the GFI Group 2002 Plan and the GFInet 2000 Plan contained events that had to occur prior to any options becoming
exercisable. Under both plans, the options became exercisable upon the completion of the Company's initial public offering,
which occurred in January 2005. Options outstanding under both plans are exercisable for shares of the Company's common
stock. The Company issues shares from the authorized but unissued shares reserved for issuance under the GFI Group 2002
Plan or the GFInet 2000 Plan, respectively, upon the exercise of option grants under such plans.

        A summary of stock option transactions is as follows:

        As of December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009, there was no unrecognized compensation cost related to stock options.

        The total intrinsic value of options exercised for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $52, $661 and
$58, respectively. Additionally, the total intrinsic value of options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2011 was
$604.
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GFI Group 2002

Plan    GFInet 2000 Plan    

  Options  

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price  

Weighted
Average

Contractual
Term  Options  

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price  

Weighted
Average

Contractual
Term  

Outstanding
December 31, 2008   651,648 $ 3.32     324,408 $ 3.17    
Exercised   (10,212)  4.31     (10,836)  2.52    

                

Outstanding
December 31, 2009   641,436  3.31     313,572  3.19    
Exercised   (30,420)  2.97     (205,960)  2.69    
Cancelled   (4,212)  2.97     (11,364)  5.68    

                

Outstanding
December 31, 2010   606,804  3.33     96,248  3.95    
Exercised   (4,212)  2.97     (23,884)  2.62    
Cancelled   (16,844)  5.25     —  —    
Expired   —  —     (55,520)  4.82    

                

Outstanding
December 31, 2011   585,748 $ 3.28  2.13  16,844 $ 2.97  1.99 

              

Exercisable at
December 31, 2011   585,748 $ 3.28  2.13  16,844 $ 2.97  1.99 
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13. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

        Operating Leases—The Company has non-cancelable operating leases, principally for office space, that expire on various
dates through 2027. At December 31, 2011, the future minimum rental commitments under such leases are as follows:

        Many of the leases for office space contain escalation clauses that require payment of additional rent to the extent of
increases in certain operating and other costs. In addition, certain of the Company's leases grant a free rent period, which is
amortized over the lease term. The accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations reflect all rent expense on a straight-
line basis over the term of the leases. Rent expense under the leases for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009
was $15,252, $13,797 and $13,114, respectively.

        In connection with moving the Company's headquarters in 2008, the Company terminated a portion of the former facility
lease with respect to approximately 51,000 square feet, effective June 30, 2008. The Company remains liable for all of the
obligations under the lease for the remaining approximately 37,000 square feet. In January 2009, the Company entered into a
sublease for approximately 23,000 square feet of the remaining leased space. The Company will receive monthly payments of
$55 until the sublease expires in September 2013.

        Purchase Obligations—The Company has various unconditional purchase obligations. These obligations are for the
purchase of market data from a number of information service providers during the normal course of business. As of
December 31, 2011, the Company had total purchase commitments for market data of approximately $25,445, with $19,118
due within the next twelve months and $6,327 due between one to three years. Additionally, the Company has purchase
commitments for capital expenditures of $3,225 primarily related to network implementations in the U.S. and U.K., and
$1,096 primarily related to hosting and software license agreements. Of these purchase commitments, capital expenditures of
approximately $998 and fees for hosting and software licensing agreements of approximately $684 are due within the next
twelve months.

        In connection with the acquisition of 70% of the equity ownership interests in Kyte, the Company agreed to purchase the
residual 30% equity interest in Kyte for an additional cash payment in an amount to be determined pursuant to a formula
based on Kyte's earnings, such payment to be made following June 30, 2013. See Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for further information.

        Contingencies—In the normal course of business, the Company and certain subsidiaries included in the consolidated
financial statements are, and have been in the past, named as defendants in various lawsuits and proceedings and are, and have
been in the past, involved in certain regulatory examinations. Additional actions, investigations or proceedings may be
brought from time to time in
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2012  $ 14,454 
2013   13,171 
2014   11,260 
2015   10,633 
2016   9,623 
Thereafter   89,675 
    

Total  $ 148,816 
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13. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued)

the future. The Company is subject to the possibility of losses from these various contingencies. Considerable judgment is
necessary to estimate the probability and amount of any loss from such contingencies. An accrual is made when it is probable
that a liability has been incurred or an asset has been impaired and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. The
Company accrues a liability for the estimated costs of adjudication or settlement of asserted and unasserted claims existing as
of the reporting period.

        The Company is subject to regular examinations by various tax authorities in jurisdictions in which the Company has
significant business operations. The Company regularly assesses the likelihood of additional tax assessments that may result
from these examinations in each of the tax jurisdictions. A tax accrual has been established, which the Company believes to
be adequate in relation to the potential for additional tax assessments. Once established, the accrual may be adjusted based on
new information or events. The imposition of additional tax assessments, penalties or fines by a tax authority could have a
material impact on the Company's effective tax rate.

        Additionally, the Company has recorded reserves for certain contingencies to which it may have exposure, such as
reserves for certain litigation contingencies and contingencies related to the employer portion of National Insurance
Contributions in the U.K.

        In October 2010, the staff of the Market Regulation Department of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority Inc.
("FINRA") (the "Staff") commenced a disciplinary proceeding by filing a complaint against GFI Securities LLC and four of its
former employees in connection with allegedly improper communications in 2005 and 2006 between certain of these former
employees and those at other interdealer brokerage firms. All of the former employees of GFI Securities LLC who were named
in the complaint resigned in April 2008 to become employed by affiliates of Compagnie Financiere Tradition. None of the
Company's current employees were named in the complaint. In February 2012, GFI Securities LLC reached an agreement with
FINRA to settle this matter pursuant to which GFI Securities LLC will be censured and will pay a fine for violations of FINRA
rule 2110, interpretive material 2110-5 and FINRA rule 3010. The amount of the fine will not have a material adverse impact
on the Company's financial position or results of operations.

        Based on currently available information, the outcome of the Company's outstanding matters are not expected to have a
material adverse impact on the Company's financial position. However, the outcome of any such matters may be material to
the Company's results of operations or cash flows in a given period. It is not presently possible to determine the Company's
ultimate exposure to these matters and there is no assurance that the resolution of the Company's outstanding matters will not
significantly exceed any reserves accrued by the Company.

        Risks and Uncertainties—The Company primarily generates its revenues by executing and facilitating transactions for
counterparties. Revenues for these services are transaction based. As a result, the Company's revenues could vary based upon
the transaction volume of securities, commodities, foreign exchange and derivative markets.

        Guarantees—The Company, through its subsidiaries, is a member of certain exchanges and clearing houses. Under the
membership agreements, members are generally required to guarantee certain obligations. To mitigate the performance risks of
its members, the exchanges and clearing houses may,
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13. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued)

from time to time, require members to post collateral, as well as meet certain minimum financial standards. The Company's
maximum potential liability under these arrangements cannot be quantified. However, management believes that the potential
for the Company to be required to make payments under these arrangements is unlikely. Accordingly, no contingent liability
is recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition for these arrangements.

14. RETIREMENT PLANS

        In the United States, the Company has established the GFI Group 401(k) plan, pursuant to the applicable laws of the
Internal Revenue Code. It is available to all eligible U.S. employees as stated in the plan document and is subject to the
provisions of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. Employees may voluntarily contribute a portion of their
compensation, not to exceed the statutory limit. The Company did not make any contributions to the plan for the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 or 2009.

        In the U.K. the Company has established two defined contribution plans pursuant to the applicable laws in the U.K.
Employees of the Company's U.K. subsidiaries may voluntarily designate a portion of their monthly compensation to be
contributed, which the Company matches up to a certain percentage. The GFI Group Personal Pension Plans are open to all
U.K. employees after the completion of three months of employment. The Company has made aggregate contributions of
$1,461, $1,316 and $1,215 in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, for the GFI Group Personal Pension Plans recorded in
compensation and employee benefits.

15. MARKET AND CREDIT RISKS

Market Risk

        The Company, through its subsidiaries, operates as a wholesale broker. The Company provides brokerage services to its
customers through agency or principal transactions. Agency brokerage transactions facilitated by the Company are settled
between the counterparties on a give-up basis. In matched principal transactions, the Company is interposed between buyers
and sellers and the transactions are cleared through various clearing organizations. In the event of counterparty
nonperformance, the Company may be required to purchase or sell financial instruments at unfavorable market prices, which
may result in a loss to the Company. The Company does not anticipate nonperformance by counterparties. The Company
monitors its credit risk daily and has a policy of regularly reviewing the credit standing of counterparties with which it
conducts business. The Company may also enter into principal investing transactions in which the Company commits its
capital within predefined limits, either to facilitate customer trading activities or to engage in principal trading for the
Company's own account. To the extent that the Company owns assets (i.e. has long positions) in fluctuating markets, a
downturn in the value of those assets or in those markets could result in losses from a decline in the value of those long
positions. Conversely, to the extent that the Company has sold assets that the Company does not own (i.e. has short positions)
in any of those markets, an upturn in those markets could expose the Company to significant losses as the Company attempts
to cover short positions in a rising market.
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15. MARKET AND CREDIT RISKS (Continued)

        Unsettled transactions (i.e., securities failed-to-receive and securities failed-to-deliver) are attributable to matched
principal transactions executed by subsidiaries and are recorded at contract value. Cash settlement is achieved upon receipt or
delivery of the security. In the event of nonperformance, the Company may purchase or sell the security in the market and
seek reimbursement for losses from the contracted counterparty.

        In certain instances, the Company may provide credit for margin requirements to customers, secured by collateral in a
customer's account. In such cases, the Company is exposed to the market risk that the value of the collateral the Company
holds could fall below the amount of a customer's indebtedness. This risk can be amplified in any situation where the market
for the underlying instrument is rapidly declining. Agreements with customers that have margin accounts permit the Company
to liquidate their positions in the event that the amount of margin collateral becomes insufficient. Despite those agreements
and the Company's risk management policies with respect to margin, the Company may be unable to liquidate a customer's
positions for various reasons, or at a price sufficient to cover any deficiency in a customer's account. If the Company were
unable to liquidate a position at a price sufficient to cover any deficiency or if a customer was unable to post additional
margin, the Company may suffer a loss.

Credit Risk

        Credit risk arises from potential non-performance by counterparties of our matched principal business, as well as from
nonpayment of commissions by customers of our agency brokerage business. The Company also has credit and counterparty
risk in certain situations where it provides clearing and execution services. The Company provides agency clearing services
through its relationships with general clearing member firms and/or exchanges. In these instances, the Company's accounts at
such institutions are used, in its name, to provide access to clearing services for its customers. Credit risk arises from the
possibility that the Company may suffer losses due to the failure of its customers or other counterparties to satisfy their
financial obligations to the Company or in a timely manner.

        The Company has established policies and procedures to manage its exposure to credit risk. The Company maintains a
thorough credit approval process to limit its exposure to counterparty risk and employ stringent monitoring to control the
market and counterparty risk from its matched principal business. The Company's brokers may only execute transactions for
clients that have been approved by the Company's credit committee following review by the Company's credit department.
The Company's credit approval process includes verification of key financial information and operating data and anti-money
laundering verification checks. The Company's credit review process may include consideration of independent credit agency
reports and a visit to the entity's premises, if necessary. The Company has developed and utilizes a proprietary, electronic
credit risk monitoring system.

        Credit approval is granted by the Company's credit committee, which is comprised of senior management and
representatives from its compliance, finance and legal departments. Credit approval is granted subject to certain trading limits
and may be subject to additional conditions, such as the receipt of collateral or other credit support. The Company's credit risk
department assists the credit committee in the review of any proposed counterparty by conducting diligence on such party and
by continuing to review such counterparties for continued credit approval on at least an annual basis. These results are
reviewed by the credit committee. Maintenance procedures include reviewing current audited financial
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15. MARKET AND CREDIT RISKS (Continued)

statements and publicly available information on the client, collecting data from credit rating agencies where available and
reviewing any changes in ownership, title or capital of the client. For the Company's agency business, the approval process
includes the requisite anti-money laundering and know-your-customer verifications.

16. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

        Certain of the Company's assets and liabilities are carried at fair value or contracted amounts that approximate fair value.
Assets and liabilities that are recorded at contracted amounts approximating fair value consist primarily of receivables from
and payables to brokers, dealers and clearing organizations and payables to clearing services customers. These receivables and
payables to brokers, dealers and clearing organizations are short-term in nature, and following December 31, 2011,
substantially all have settled at the contracted amounts. The Company's marketable equity securities are recorded at fair value
based on their quoted market price. The Company's investments that are accounted for under the cost and equity methods are
investments in companies that are not publicly traded and for which no established market for their securities exists. The fair
value of these investments is only estimated if there are identified events or changes in circumstances that may have a
significant adverse effect on the carrying value of the investment. The Company's debt obligations are carried at historical
amounts. The fair value of the Company's Short-term borrowings outstanding under the Credit Agreement approximated the
carrying value at December 31, 2010. No such borrowings were outstanding at December 31, 2011.

        The fair value of the Company's Long-term obligations was estimated using market rates of interest available to the
Company for debt obligations of similar types as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 as follows:

        The Company's financial assets and liabilities recorded at fair value have been categorized based upon a fair value
hierarchy in accordance with ASC 820-10. In accordance with ASC 820-10, the Company has categorized its financial assets
and liabilities, based on the priority of the inputs to the valuation technique, into a three-level fair value hierarchy as set forth
below.

Level 1—Financial assets and liabilities whose values are based on unadjusted quoted prices for identifiable assets or
liabilities in an active market that the company has the ability to access at the measurement date (examples include
active exchange-traded equity securities, listed derivatives, and most U.S. Government and agency securities).
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  December 31,  
  2011  2010  
Long-term obligations, at estimated fair value:        

8.375% Senior Notes  $ 231,250 $ — 
7.17% Senior Notes   —  65,842 
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16. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Level 2—Financial assets and liabilities whose values are based on quoted prices in markets where trading occurs
infrequently or whose values are based on quoted prices of instruments with similar attributes in active markets.
Level 2 inputs include the following:

• Quoted prices for identifiable or similar assets or liabilities in non-active markets (examples include
corporate and municipal bonds which trade infrequently); 

• Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for substantially the full term of the asset or liability
(examples include interest rate and currency swaps), and

Level 3—Financial assets and liabilities whose values are based on prices or valuation techniques that require inputs
that are both unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement. These inputs reflect management's
own assumptions about the assumptions a market participant would use in pricing the asset or liability.

Valuation Techniques

        A description of the valuation techniques applied to the Company's major categories of assets and liabilities measured at
fair value on a recurring basis are as follows:

U.S. Treasury Securities—U.S. Treasury securities are valued using quoted market prices. Valuation adjustments are not
applied. Accordingly, U.S. Treasury securities are generally categorized in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

Equity Securities—Equity securities include mostly exchange-traded corporate equity securities and are valued based
on quoted market prices. Accordingly, exchange-traded equity securities are generally categorized in Level 1 of the
fair value hierarchy. Non-exchange traded equity securities are measured primarily using broker quotations, pricing
service data from external providers and prices observed for recently executed market transactions. Non-exchange
traded equity securities are generally categorized within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

Corporate Bonds—Corporate bonds are measured primarily using broker quotations, pricing service data from external
providers and prices observed for recently executed market transactions. Corporate bonds are generally categorized in
Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

Derivative Contracts—Derivative contracts include instruments such as foreign exchange, commodity, fixed income
and equity derivative contracts.

Listed Derivative Contracts—Listed derivatives that are actively traded are valued based on quoted prices from
the exchange and are categorized in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

OTC Derivative Contracts—OTC derivative contracts include forwards, swaps, and options contracts related to
foreign currencies. Depending on the product and the terms of the transaction, the fair value of OTC derivative
products can be either observed or modeled using a series of techniques and model inputs from comparable
benchmarks, including closed-form analytic formulas, such as the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, and
simulation models or a combination thereof. Many pricing models do not entail material subjectivity because
the methodologies employed do not necessitate significant judgment, and the pricing inputs are observed from
actively quoted markets. In the case of more established derivative
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16. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

products, the pricing models used by the Company are widely accepted by the financial services industry. OTC
derivative products valued by the Company using pricing models generally fall into this category and are
categorized in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

Equity warrants—Non-exchange traded equity warrants are classified within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy
and are measured using the Black-Scholes model with key inputs impacting the valuation including the
underlying security price, implied volatility, dividend yield, interest rate curve, strike price and maturity date.

Convertible debt security—As discussed in Note 7, the Company exchanged its membership interest in a private
company for a convertible senior secured promissory note in that company. This security is measured using valuation
techniques involving quoted prices of or market data for comparable companies' credit ratings, peer company ratios
and discounted cash flow analyses. As several inputs are unobservable and significant to the valuation, this convertible
debt security is categorized within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

Future Purchase Commitment—As the inputs used in the fair value future purchase commitment are both unobservable
and significant to the overall fair value measurement of this liability, the liability is categorized in Level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy. In connection with the acquisition of 70% of the equity ownership interests in Kyte, the Company
agreed to purchase the residual 30% equity interest in Kyte for an additional cash payment in an amount to be
determined pursuant to a formula based on Kyte's earnings, such payment to be made following June 30, 2013. In
applying the income approach, the Company assumed a 16.0% and 17.7% discount rate as of December 31, 2011 and
2010, respectively, and used forecasted financial information for Kyte for the remaining period ended June 30, 2013.

Contingent Consideration—As the inputs used in the fair value of contingent consideration are both unobservable and
significant to the overall fair value measurement of this liability, the liability is generally categorized in Level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy. The category consists primarily of contingent consideration related to the acquisition of a retail
energy brokerage business, completed on November 1, 2009. This contingent liability is remeasured at fair value and is
based on estimated future collections of accounts receivable of the business over approximately the next two years.

        In the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company did not have any transfers amongst Level 1, Level 2, and
Level 3.
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16. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

        Financial Assets and Liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2011 are as follows:

  

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for

Identical Assets
(Level 1)  

Significant Other
Observable

Inputs
(Level 2)  

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)  

Balance at
December 31,

2011  
Assets              
Deposits with clearing

organizations:              
U.S. Treasury securities  $ 500 $ — $ — $ 500 

Other assets: Financial
instruments owned:              
Equity securities  $ 480 $ 208 $ — $ 688 
Derivative contracts:              

Foreign exchange
derivative contracts  $ 16 $ 185,933 $ — $ 185,949 

Fixed income derivative
contracts   1,628  —  —  1,628 

Equity derivative
contracts   1,453  —  1,937  3,390 

Netting(1)   (1,210)  (183,581)  —  (184,791)
          

Total derivative
contracts  $ 1,887 $ 2,352 $ 1,937 $ 6,176 

          

Total financial
instruments owned  $ 2,367 $ 2,560 $ 1,937 $ 6,864 

Other assets: Investments:              
Equity security, available-

for-sale  $ 2,901 $ — $ — $ 2,901 
Debt security, available-for-

sale  $ — $ — $ 5,362 $ 5,362 
          

Total  $ 5,768 $ 2,560 $ 7,299 $ 15,627 
          

Liabilities              
Other liabilities: Financial

instruments sold, not yet
purchased:              
Equity securities  $ 129 $ 22 $ — $ 151 
Derivative contracts:              

Foreign exchange
derivative contracts  $ 7 $ 184,354 $ — $ 184,361 

Fixed income derivative
contracts   384  —  —  384 

Equity derivative
contracts   819  —  —  819 

Netting(1)   (1,210)  (183,529)  —  (184,739)
          

Total derivative
contracts  $ — $ 825 $ — $ 825 

          

Total financial
instruments sold,
not yet purchased  $ 129 $ 847 $ — $ 976 

Other liabilities: Future
purchase commitment and
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        Excluded from the table above is variation margin on long and short derivative contracts related to exchange traded
futures and options on futures in the amount of $1,125 which are included within Receivables from brokers, dealers and
clearing organizations.
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purchase commitment and
contingent consideration
liabilities  $ — $ — $ 13,681 $ 13,681 

          

Total  $ 129 $ 847 $ 13,681 $ 14,657 
          

(1) Represents the impact of netting on a net-by-counterparty basis.
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16. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

        Financial Assets and Liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2010 are as follows:

  

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for

Identical Assets
(Level 1)  

Significant Other
Observable

Inputs
(Level 2)  

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)  

Balance at
December 31,

2010  
Assets              
Deposits with clearing

organizations:              
U.S. Treasury securities  $ 500 $ — $ — $ 500 

Other assets: Financial
instruments owned:              
Equity securities  $ 549 $ 161 $ — $ 710 
Derivative contracts:              

Foreign exchange
derivative contracts  $ — $ 76,057 $ — $ 76,057 

Fixed income derivative
contracts   89  —  —  89 

Equity derivative
contracts   3,849  —  —  3,849 

Netting(1)   —  (74,934)  —  (74,934)
          

Total derivative
contracts  $ 3,938 $ 1,123 $ — $ 5,061 

          

Total financial
instruments owned  $ 4,487 $ 1,284 $ — $ 5,771 

Other assets: Investments:              
Equity security, available-

for-sale  $ 4,925 $ — $ — $ 4,925 
          

Total  $ 9,912 $ 1,284 $ — $ 11,196 
          

Liabilities              
Other liabilities: Financial

instruments sold, not yet
purchased:              
Derivative contracts:              

Foreign exchange
derivative contracts  $ — $ 79,368 $ — $ 79,368 

Fixed income derivative
contracts   87  —  —  87 

Equity derivative
contracts   2,286  —  —  2,286 

Netting(1)   —  (74,908)  —  (74,908)
          

Total derivative
contracts  $ 2,373 $ 4,460 $ — $ 6,833 

          

Total financial
instruments sold,
not yet purchased  $ 2,373 $ 4,460 $ — $ 6,833 

Other liabilities: Future
purchase commitment and
contingent consideration
liabilities  $ — $ — $ 22,415 $ 22,415 
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        Excluded from the table above is variation margin on long and short derivative contracts related to exchange traded
futures and options in the amount of $18 and $206 which are included within Receivables from brokers, dealers and clearing
organizations and Payables to brokers, dealers and clearing organizations, respectively.
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Total  $ 2,373 $ 4,460 $ 22,415 $ 29,248 
          

(1) Represents the impact of netting on a net-by-counterparty basis.
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16. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

        Changes in Level 3 Financial Assets and Liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis for the year ended
December 31, 2011 are as follows:

        Changes in Level 3 Financial Assets and Liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis for the year ended
December 31, 2010 are as follows:

  
Beginning

Balance  

Total
realized

and
unrealized

(gains)
losses

included
in

Income(1)  

Unrealized
gains (losses)
included in

Other
comprehensive

(income) loss  Purchases  Issuances  Sales  Settlements  

Ending
Balance at

December 31,
2011  

Unrealized
gains (losses)

for Level 3
Assets /

Liabilities
Outstanding

at
December 31,

2011  
Assets                             
Other assets:                             
Financial

Instruments
owned:

 

                           
Equity

Derivative
Contracts

 

$ — $ — $ — $ 1,937 $ — $ — $ — $ 1,937 $ — 
Other assets:                             
Notes

Receivable:
 
                           

Notes
Receivable,
available-
for-sale

 

 —  —  —  5,362  —  —  —  5,362  — 

Liabilities
 
                           

Other
liabilities:

 
                           

Future
purchase
commitment
and
contingent
consideration
liabilities:

 

$ 22,415 $ (6,941)$ (100) $ — $ — $ — $ (1,693) $ 13,681 $ (6,941)

(1) Realized and unrealized gains (losses) are reported in Other income in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

  
Beginning

Balance  

Total
realized

and
unrealized

(gains)
losses

included
in

Income(1)  

Unrealized
gains (losses)
included in

Other
comprehensive

(income) loss  Purchases  Issuances  Sales  Settlements  

Ending
Balance at

December 31,
2010  

Unrealized
gains (losses)

for Level 3
Assets /

Liabilities
Outstanding

at
December 31,

2010  
Liabilities                             
Other

liabilities:                             
Future

purchase
commitment
and
contingent
consideration
liabilities:  $ — $ (1,009) $ 1,349 $ 22,664 $ — $ — $ (589) $ 22,415 $ (1,009)
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Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Non-recurring Basis

        The Company has cost and equity method investments which are monitored for indicators of impairment each reporting
period. If the Company determines that an other-than-temporary impairment has occurred, the investment will be written down
to its estimated fair value. For the year ended December 31, 2011, in accordance with the provisions of ASC 323-10, the
Company determined that certain equity method investments were other-than-temporarily impaired and were written down to
their estimated fair value. The Company primarily utilized the income approach by assuming an
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(1) Realized and unrealized gains (losses) are reported in Other income in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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16. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

estimated discount rate and forecasted financial information to determine its estimated fair value. The Company measured this
equity method investment at fair value on a non-recurring basis and it is not included in the tables above.

        The following table presents the balance of the equity method investments at December 31, 2011 that have been
measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis, using the process described above, and the impairment charges recorded
during the year ended December 31, 2011:

        There were no liabilities measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis at December 31, 2011. There were no assets or
liabilities measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis at December 31, 2010.

17. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

        The Company uses foreign exchange derivative contracts, including forward contracts and foreign currency swaps, to
reduce the effects of fluctuations in certain assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. The Company also hedges
a portion of its foreign currency exposures on anticipated foreign currency denominated revenues and expenses by entering
into forward foreign exchange contracts. For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, none of these contracts were
designated as foreign currency cash flow hedges under ASC 815-10, Derivatives and Hedging  ("ASC 815-10").

        The Company provides brokerage services to its customers for exchange-traded and over-the-counter derivative products,
which include futures, forwards and options contracts. The Company may enter into principal transactions for exchange-
traded and over-the-counter derivative products to facilitate customer trading activities or to engage in principal trading for
the Company's own account.

        The Company monitors market risk exposure from its matched principal business and principal trading business by
regularly monitoring its concentration of market risk to financial instruments, countries or counterparties and regularly
monitoring trades that have not settled within prescribed settlement periods or volume thresholds. Additionally, market risks
are monitored and mitigated by the use of the Company's proprietary, electronic risk monitoring system, which provides daily
credit reports in each of the Company's geographic regions that analyze credit concentration and facilitates the regular
monitoring of transactions against key risk indicators.

        For certain derivative contracts, the Company has entered into agreements with counterparties that allow for netting. The
Company reports these derivative contracts on a net-by-counterparty basis when management believes that a legal and
enforceable right of offset exists under these agreements.
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Balance at
December 31,

2011  

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for

Identical Assets
(Level 1)  

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)  

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)  

Total Losses for
the Year Ended,

2011  
Other Assets:

Investments(1)  $ — $ — $ — $ — $ (4,717)

(1) Impairment losses are recorded within Other expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for
the year ended December 31, 2011.
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17. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

        Fair values of derivative contracts on a gross basis as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 are as follows:

        As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company had outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts with a combined
notional value of $128,197 and $149,350, respectively. Approximately $32,743 and $53,480 of these forward foreign
exchange contracts represents a hedge of euro-denominated balance sheet positions at December 31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. The remaining contracts are hedges of anticipated future cash flows.

        In addition to the Company's outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts, the following table includes the
outstanding long and short notional amounts on a gross basis of derivative financial instruments as of December 31, 2011 and
December 31, 2010:
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  December 31, 2011  December 31, 2010  

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments under ASC 815-10  
Derivative
Assets(1)  

Derivative
Liabilities(2) 

Derivative
Assets(1)  

Derivative
Liabilities(2) 

Foreign exchange derivative contracts  $ 185,984 $ 184,387 $ 76,057 $ 79,368 
Commodity derivative contracts   13,178  12,190  3,955  4,143 
Fixed income derivative contracts   4,113  2,904  89  87 
Equity derivative contracts   3,600  866  3,849  2,286 

          

Total fair value of derivative contracts  $ 206,875 $ 200,347 $ 83,950 $ 85,884 
Counterparty netting   (199,574) (199,522) (78,871) (78,845)
          

Total fair value  $ 7,301 $ 825 $ 5,079 $ 7,039 
          

(1) Reflects futures and options on futures contracts within Receivables from brokers, dealers and clearing
organizations and options and forwards contracts within Other assets. 

(2) Reflects futures and options on futures contracts within Payables to brokers, dealers and clearing
organizations and options and forwards contracts within Other liabilities.

  December 31, 2011  December 31, 2010  
  Long  Short  Long  Short  
Foreign exchange derivative contracts  $ 9,967,442 $ 9,976,475 $ 5,682,858 $ 5,681,923 
Commodity derivative contracts   512,233  513,245  501,953  803,357 
Fixed income derivative contracts   3,119,363  3,195,903  18,346  18,399 
Equity derivative contracts   31,959  6,605  40,040  92,840 
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        The following is a summary of the effect of derivative contracts on the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the
years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010:

18. VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

Consolidated Variable Interest Entities

        In December 2010, Kyte entered into an investment with a limited liability partnership ("LLP"), which is focused on
developing a proprietary trading business. The LLP is a VIE and it was determined that the Company is the primary
beneficiary of the LLP because Kyte is the provider of the majority of the LLP's start-up capital and has the power to direct the
activities of the VIE that most significantly impact the economic performance of the entity.

Non-consolidated Variable Interest Entities

        The Company holds interests in certain variable interest entities ("VIEs") which it does not consolidate as it determined
that the Company is not the primary beneficiary. The Company's involvement with such entities is in the form of direct equity
interests and a convertible note. The entities include an independent brokerage firm with a proprietary trading platform,
trading entities in which the Company has provided initial capital to fund trading activities, a commodity pool operator and
an investment fund manager. As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, assets recognized in the Consolidated Statements of
Financial Condition related to the Company's interests in these non-consolidated VIEs were $10,640 and $15,247,
respectively, and are reflected in Other assets. The Company has not recorded any liabilities with respect to VIEs not
consolidated. The Company's maximum exposure to loss relating to non-consolidated VIEs as of December 31, 2011 and
December 31, 2010 was $10,640 and $18,047, respectively. As of December 31, 2011, the maximum exposure to loss
represented assets recognized by the Company in the form of equity method investments and a convertible note. As of
December 31, 2010, the maximum exposure to loss represented (i) assets recognized by the Company in the form of equity
method investments and notes receivable on loans made to VIEs in which the Company holds a variable interest and (ii) a
future
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Amount of Gain (Loss)
Recognized in

Income on Derivatives  

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments under ASC 815-10  

Location of
Gain (Loss)

Recognized in
Income on
Derivatives  

For the Year
Ended

December 31,
2011  

For the Year
Ended

December 31,
2010  

Foreign exchange derivative contracts  (1)  $ 4,090 $ 8,977 

Commodity derivative contracts  
Principal
transactions  14,388  6,476 

Fixed income derivative contracts  
Principal
transactions  10,636  1,506 

Equity derivative contracts  
Principal
transactions  4,885  999 

(1) For the year ended December 31, 2011, approximately $415 of losses on foreign exchange derivative
contracts were included within Other (loss) income and approximately $4,505 of gains on foreign
currency options were included within Principal transactions. For the year ended December 31, 2010,
approximately $3,529 of gains on foreign exchange derivative contracts were included within Other (loss)
income and approximately $5,448 of gains on foreign currency options were included within Principal
transactions.
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18. VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES (Continued)

commitment to purchase the remaining membership interests in an independent brokerage platform with a proprietary trading
platform in increments of 20% by the third quarter of 2013, subject to customary closing conditions.

19. EQUITY METHOD INVESTMENTS

        The Company has investments accounted for under the equity method (see Note 2) with an aggregate carrying value of
$28,997 and $30,057, at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, and which are included in Other assets. Included within
Equity in net earnings of unconsolidated businesses was $10,466, $3,974 and $1,574 in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively,
related to these investments.

        The Company reviews investments accounted for under the equity method for decline in value that may be other than
temporary. During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company recorded write-downs of $4,717 related to equity method
investments that were determined to be impaired on an other-than-temporary basis. The value of the Company's ownership
interest in these entities was evaluated in light of recent and projected operating losses of these investees. A decline in current
and projected cash flows resulted in the value of the Company's ownership interests being less than the carrying amount of
these investments. These write-downs are included in Other expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

        Investments accounted for under the equity method included the following:

• Investments in unconsolidated UK brokerage and trading operations acquired in the July 1, 2010 acquisition of
Kyte or made by Kyte subsequent to the Company's acquisition. 

• Investments in U.S. based brokerage, trading and investment firms.

        These investments accounted for an aggregate investment balance of $12,506 and $13,593 at December 31, 2011 and
2010, respectively. The Company's share of net earnings for these investments was $8,093 and $1,627 in 2011 and 2010,
respectively. The Company did not have any net earnings related to these investments in 2009.

        During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company recorded a $1,863 loss related to the accounting impact of an
increased ownership stake in an equity method investment previously accounted for under the cost method.

        During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company recorded $521 of pre-tax income representing the Company's
share of equity in prior period earnings of an equity-method investee.

20. REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

        The following material operating subsidiaries of the Company are required to maintain minimum levels of regulatory
capital pursuant to applicable regulations:

        GFI Securities LLC is a registered broker-dealer with the SEC and FINRA. GFI Securities LLC is also a registered
introducing broker with the National Futures Association and the Commodity Futures Trading Commission. Accordingly, GFI
Securities LLC is subject to the net capital rules under the Exchange Act and the Commodity Exchange Act. Under these
rules, GFI Securities LLC is required to
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20. REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS (Continued)

maintain minimum Net Capital, as defined by applicable regulations, of not less than the greater of $250 or 2% of aggregate
debits, as defined by applicable regulations.

        GFI Brokers Limited, GFI Securities Limited, The Kyte Group Limited and Kyte Broking Limited are subject to the
capital requirements of the Financial Services Authority in the United Kingdom ("FSA"). In addition, GFI Securities Limited
and The Kyte Group Limited are subject to the FSA consolidated capital requirements.

        GFI (HK) Securities LLC is subject to the capital requirements of the Securities and Futures Commission in Hong Kong
(the "SFC").

        The following table sets forth information about the minimum regulatory capital that certain of the Company's
subsidiaries were required to maintain as of December 31, 2011:

        Certain of the Company's material operating subsidiaries are subject to other financial requirements as set forth below:

        GFI Securities Limited's Japanese branch is subject to certain licensing requirements established by the Financial
Instruments and Exchange Law (the "FIEL") in Japan. As part of the licensing requirements, GFI Securities Limited's Japanese
branch is required to maintain minimum "brought-in" capital and stockholders' equity of 50,000 Japanese Yen each
(approximately $650). GFI Securities Limited's Japanese branch is also subject to the FIEL's net capital rule. At December 31,
2011, GFI Securities Limited's Japanese branch was in compliance with these capital requirements.

        GFI (HK) Brokers Ltd. is registered with and regulated by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority. As part of this registration,
GFI (HK) Brokers Ltd. is required to maintain stockholders' equity of 5,000 Hong Kong dollars (or approximately $644). At
December 31, 2011, GFI (HK) Brokers Ltd. had stockholders' equity of 25,382 Hong Kong dollars (or approximately $3,269),
which exceeded the minimum requirement by 20,382 Hong Kong dollars (or approximately $2,625).

        GFI Group Pte. Ltd. is subject to the compliance requirements of the Monetary Authority of Singapore, which requires
that GFI Group Pte. Ltd, among other things, maintain stockholders' equity of 3,000 Singapore dollars (or approximately
$2,318). At December 31, 2011, GFI Group Pte. Ltd. exceeded the minimum requirement by approximately 19,216 Singapore
dollars (or approximately $14,850).

        GFI Korea Money Brokerage Limited is licensed and regulated by the Ministry of Finance and Economy to engage in
foreign exchange brokerage business, and is subject to certain regulatory requirements under the Foreign Exchange
Transaction Act. As a licensed foreign exchange brokerage company, GFI Korea Money Brokerage Limited is required to
maintain minimum paid-in capital of
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GFI
Securities

LLC  

GFI
Brokers
Limited  

GFI
Securities
Limited  

The Kyte
Group
Limited  

Kyte
Broking
Limited  

GFI (HK)
Securities

LLC  
Regulatory capital  $ 12,736 $ 47,427 $ 63,760 $ 14,636 $ 5,581 $ 1,420 
Minimum regulatory

capital required   250  25,793  33,119  8,206  2,661  386 
              

Excess regulatory capital  $ 12,486 $ 21,634 $ 30,641 $ 6,430 $ 2,920 $ 1,034 
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20. REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS (Continued)

5,000,000 Korean Won (or approximately $4,308). At December 31, 2011, GFI Korea Money Brokerage Limited exceeded the
minimum requirement for paid-in-capital by approximately 6,508,075 Korean Won (or approximately $5,607).

        These regulatory rules may restrict the Company's ability to withdraw capital from its regulated subsidiaries. In addition
to the requirements set forth above, certain of the Company's other subsidiaries are subject to minimum net capital, minimum
stockholders' equity or similar requirements of the jurisdictions in which they operate. The Company believes it is in
compliance with all of these requirements at December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 with the exception of The Kyte
Group Limited's U.K. consolidated group capital requirement which had fallen below the required minimum amount on
December 31, 2010. Subsequent to December 31, 2010, the Company has re-organized its investments in certain Kyte entities
and has provided additional capital to the regulated group to comply with applicable group capital requirements.

21. SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

        In accordance with ASC 280-10, Segment Reporting ("ASC 280-10") and based on the nature of the Company's
operations, products and services in each geographic region, the Company determined that it has four operating segments:
(i) Americas Brokerage, (ii) Europe, Middle East and Africa ("EMEA") Brokerage, (iii) Asia Brokerage, and (iv) Clearing and
Backed Trading. The Company's brokerage operations provide brokerage services in four broad product categories: fixed
income, financial, equity and commodity. Additionally, in accordance with criteria in ASC 280-10, the Company presents its
operating segments as five reportable segments: the four operating segments described above and "All Other." The All Other
segment captures costs that are not directly assignable to one of the operating segments, primarily consisting of the
Company's corporate business activities and operations from software, analytics and market data.

        The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described above in Note 2—Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies. The Company evaluates performance of the operating segments based on income (loss) before income
taxes, which it defines as revenues less direct expenses. Revenues within each brokerage segment include revenues that are
directly related to providing brokerage services along with interest and other income directly attributable to the operating
segment. Revenues within the Clearing and Backed Trading segment primarily include revenues that are directly related to
providing clearing services along with the Company's share of profit (loss) on trading activity from capital investments. Direct
expenses of the operating segments are those expenses that are directly related to providing the brokerage or clearing services
and trading activities of the operating segments and include compensation expense related to the segment management and
staff, communication and market data, travel and promotion, and certain professional fees and other expenses that are directly
incurred by the operating segments. However, the Company does not allocate to its operating segments certain expenses which
it manages separately at the corporate level. The unallocated costs include rent and occupancy, depreciation and amortization,
professional fees, interest on borrowings and other expenses and are included in the results below under "All Other" in the
reconciliation of operating results. Management generally does not consider the unallocated costs in its measurement of the
four
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21. SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION (Continued)

operating segments' performance. Selected financial information for the Company's reportable segments is presented below for
periods indicated:

 

 

        In addition, with the exception for goodwill, the Company does not identify or allocate asset by operating segment, nor
does its chief operating decision maker evaluate operating segments using discrete asset information. See Note 6 for goodwill
by reportable segment.

        For the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009, the U.K. is the only individual foreign country that accounts for
10% or more of the total sales and total long-lived assets. Information regarding revenue for the years ended December 31,
2011, 2010, and 2009, and information regarding

  Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2011  

  
Americas

Brokerage  
EMEA

Brokerage  
Asia

Brokerage  

Clearing
and Backed

Trading  
All

Other  Total  
Total revenues  $ 313,483 $ 386,012 $ 82,903 $ 164,882 $ 68,193 $ 1,015,473 
Revenues, net of

interest and
transaction-
based
expenses   299,590  374,802  82,839  54,104  69,436  880,771 

Income (loss)
before income
taxes   81,308  88,122  15,533  9,196  (194,077)  82 

  Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2010  

  
Americas

Brokerage  
EMEA

Brokerage  
Asia

Brokerage  

Clearing
and Backed

Trading  All Other  Total  
Total revenues  $ 294,910 $ 379,033 $ 74,945 $ 53,129 $ 60,585 $ 862,602 
Revenues, net of

interest and
transaction-
based expenses   278,553  367,494  74,875  12,140  61,982  795,044 

Income (loss)
before income
taxes   66,399  115,037  15,814  (3,041)  (162,406)  31,803 

  Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2009  

  
Americas

Brokerage  
EMEA

Brokerage  
Asia

Brokerage  

Clearing
and Backed

Trading  
All

Other  Total  
Total revenues  $ 327,127 $ 364,761 $ 61,603 $ — $ 66,790 $ 820,281 
Revenues, net of

interest and
transaction-
based expenses   309,245  350,869  61,573  —  68,240  789,927 

Income (loss)
before income
taxes   42,305  114,960  (871)  —  (133,124)  23,270 
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21. SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION (Continued)

long-lived assets (defined as property, equipment, leasehold improvements and software inventory) in geographic areas as of
December 31, 2011 and 2010 are as follows:

 

 

        Revenues are attributed to geographic areas based on the location of the Company's relevant subsidiaries.
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  For the year ended December 31,  
  2011  2010  2009  
Revenues:           
United States  $ 303,508 $ 290,053 $ 308,846 
United Kingdom   492,204  398,020  354,934 
Other   219,761  174,529  156,501 
        

Total  $ 1,015,473 $ 862,602 $ 820,281 
        

  For the year ended December 31,  
  2011  2010  2009  
Revenues, net of interest and transaction-based

expenses:           
United States  $ 295,212 $ 278,686 $ 306,911 
United Kingdom   376,809  348,895  335,258 
Other   208,750  167,463  147,758 
        

Total  $ 880,771 $ 795,044 $ 789,927 
        

  As of December 31,  
  2011  2010  
Long-lived Assets, as defined:        
United States  $ 50,993 $ 52,649 
United Kingdom   12,018  14,132 
Other   5,846  4,493 
      

Total  $ 68,857 $ 71,274 
      

 PDFmyURL.com

http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1292426/000104746912002738/a2208076z10-k.htm#bg47201a_main_toc
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1292426/000104746912002738/a2208076z10-k.htm#bg47201a_main_toc
http://pdfmyurl.com?otsrc=watermark&otclc=0.01
http://pdfmyurl.com?otsrc=watermark&otclc=0.01


Table of Contents

GFI GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

22. PARENT COMPANY INFORMATION

        The following presents the Parent company only's Condensed Statements of Financial condition, Operations and
comprehensive (loss) income and Cash flows:

Parent Company Only
Condensed Statements of Financial Condition

(In thousands, except share and per share data) 
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  December 31,  
  2011  2010  
Assets        

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 127 $ 752 
Investments in subsidiaries, equity basis   414,021  372,004 
Advances to subsidiaries   258,951  302,079 
Other assets   33,857  15,783 

      

TOTAL ASSETS  $ 706,956 $ 690,618 
      

Liabilities and stockholders' equity        
LIABILITIES        

Short-term borrowings, net  $ — $ 132,703 
Long-term obligations   250,000  59,743 
Other liabilities   9,744  4,061 

      

Total Liabilities   259,744  196,507 
      

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY        
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized, none

outstanding at December 31, 2011 and 2010   —  — 
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 400,000,000 shares authorized and

131,669,676 and 128,703,324 shares issued at December 31, 2011
and 2010, respectively   1,317  1,287 

Additional paid in capital   365,835  350,230 
Retained earnings   160,934  188,295 
Treasury stock, 14,145,038 and 6,577,833 common shares at cost at

December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively   (73,919)  (43,433)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (6,955)  (2,268)

      

Total Stockholders' Equity   447,212  494,111 
      

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY  $ 706,956 $ 690,618 
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22. PARENT COMPANY INFORMATION (Continued)

Parent Company Only
Condensed Statements of Operations and Comprehensive (Loss) Income

(In thousands) 
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  Year Ended December 31,  
  2011  2010  2009  
Revenues:           

Interest income  $ 110 $ 4 $ 5 
Expenses:           

Interest expense   22,618  9,210  9,567 
Other expenses   996  1,028  1,359 

        

Total expenses   23,614  10,238  10,926 
        

Loss before benefit from income taxes and equity in
earnings of subsidiaries   (23,504)  (10,234)  (10,921)

Benefit from income taxes   8,226  1,892  3,276 
        

Loss before equity in earnings of subsidiaries   (15,278)  (8,342)  (7,645)
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries, net of tax   12,097  33,957  23,933 
        

GFI's net (loss) income  $ (3,181) $ 25,615 $ 16,288 
        

Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax:           
Foreign currency translation adjustment  $ (3,050) $ 2,054 $ 1,506 
Unrealized (loss) gain on available-for-sale securities, net

of tax   (1,486)  182  565 
        

GFI's comprehensive (loss) income  $ (7,717) $ 27,851 $ 18,359 
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Parent Company Only
Condensed Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands) 

Guarantees

        From time to time, the Company provides guarantees, on behalf of its subsidiaries, to clients for the purpose of providing
credit enhancement for such clients. Such guarantees generally provide that
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  Year Ended December 31,  
  2011  2010  2009  
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:           
GFI'S net (loss) income  $ (3,181) $ 25,615 $ 16,288 
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash used

in operating activities:           
Income from equity method investments   (12,097)  (33,957)  (23,933)
Amortization of loan fees   1,709  939  742 
Share-based compensation   449  315  408 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:           
Other assets   (8,338)  (1,880)  (3,276)
Other liabilities   5,683  201  272 

        

Cash used in operating activities   (15,775)  (8,767)  (9,499)
        

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:           
Investments in subsidiaries   138  963  1,996 
Receipts from subsidiaries   28,876  59,745  94,292 

        

Cash provided by investing activities   29,014  60,708  96,288 
        

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:           
Repayments of short-term borrowings   (190,000)  (40,000)  (50,000)
Proceeds from short-term borrowings   55,000  60,000  — 
Proceeds from long-term obligations   250,000  —  — 
Repayments of long-term obligations   (60,000)  —  — 
Purchases of treasury stock   (35,868)  (22,609)  (4,425)
Cash dividends paid   (24,180)  (54,658)  (23,583)
Payment of loan fees   (8,891)  (2,720)  (831)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options   75  645  70 

        

Cash used in financing activities   (13,864)  (59,342)  (78,769)
        

(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents   (625)  (7,401)  8,020 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year   752  8,153  133 
        

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year  $ 127 $ 752 $ 8,153 
        

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE:           
Interest paid  $ 12,614 $ 8,778 $ 8,874 
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22. PARENT COMPANY INFORMATION (Continued)

the Company will guarantee the performance of all liabilities, obligations and undertakings owed by such subsidiary with
respect to matched principal transactions entered into by such subsidiary with the relevant client. These guarantees are
generally terminable on less than 30 days' notice. The Company has not recorded any contingent liability in the condensed
financial statements for these guarantees and believes that the occurrence of any events that would trigger payments under
these guarantees is remote.

Advances to Subsidiaries

        As of December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, the Parent company had receivables from subsidiaries of $258,951, $302,079
and $344,099, respectively, related primarily to the allocation of funds received, from notes payable and the issuance of
equity securities to subsidiaries to fund working capital.

23. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

        In February 2012, the Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.05 per share payable on March 30,
2012 to shareholders of record on March 15, 2012.

        Subsequent events have been evaluated for disclosure in the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements through the
filing date of this Form 10-K.
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